Scottish COVID-19 Inquiry

The Delivery of Education and Certification, Impact on Children and Young People:

The impact of school closures and changes to support packages on pupils with additional support needs

Final Draft

Professor Gillean McCluskey Dr Ian Fyfe Rosa Murray Dr Zoè Robertson Dr Annie Taylor

25th July 2023





Disclaimer:

This report was commissioned by the Scottish COVID-19 Inquiry as scoping research. It was written to assist the Inquiry with the shape and direction of its investigations, and is published in the interests of transparency. The Inquiry is grateful to the author[s] for their work. The Inquiry is an independent body, and is carrying out its own investigations in accordance with its Terms of Reference. The research represents the views of those who wrote it, and nothing in it is binding on the Inquiry. The research is one of many sources which will be considered by the Inquiry during the course of its investigations.

© Crown copyright 2023. This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except where otherwise stated. To view this licence, Visit https://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/

Contents

Executive Summary

- Aim and Focus of This Study
- Key Issues
- Introduction
- Methodology

Section 1: The Impact of School Closures and Changes to Support Packages on Children and Young People with Additional Support Needs

- Key Events and Related Changes to Relevant Educational Legislation, Policy and Guidelines that Affected Children and Young People with Additional Support Needs
- Impact on the Rights and Participation of Children and Young People with Additional Support Needs
- Impact on Learning
- Wider Impacts on Children and Young People with Additional Support Needs and Their Families
- Hub Schools
- Services and Recovery
- Attainment and Achievement

Section 2: The Intersectional Impact of the Pandemic

- Access to Education and Services
- Attainment

Section 3: Impact on Specific Groups with Additional Support Needs

- Disabled and Seriously III Children and Young People
- Children and Young People with Pre-Existing Mental Health Difficulties
- Children on the Child Protection Register, Looked-After Children, and Care-Experienced Young People

- Social, Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties
- English as an Additional Language (EAL), Refugees and Families Seeking Asylum
- Young Carers

Conclusion

Bibliography

• Note on References

List of abbreviations

- ASL: Additional Support for Learning
- ASN: Additional Support Needs
- CERG: COVID Education Recovery Group
- CSP: Co-ordinated Support Plan
- EAL: English as an Additional Language
- HMIE: HM Inspectors of Education
- IRD: Inter-agency Referral Discussion
- LAC: Looked After Children/ Child
- SCQF: Scottish Credit and Qualifications Framework
- SEBD: Social, Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties
- SEND: Special Educational Needs and Disabilities

Executive Summary

Aim and Focus of This Study

This research builds on the findings of our earlier study 'The Delivery of Education and Certification, Impact of COVID-19 on Children and Young People', led by Prof McCluskey in 2022, commissioned as scoping research for the Scottish COVID-19 Public Inquiry. This new study focuses specifically on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on children and young people with additional support needs. In this way, this research aims to support the overall aim of the Inquiry: to establish the facts of, and learn lessons from, the strategic response to the COVID-19 pandemic in Scotland. It covers only the strategic response of the devolved administration in Scotland.

Key Issues

The initial months of the pandemic produced an unprecedented level of research, but a relatively small proportion of this focused on children and young people with additional support needs, despite the term 'additional support needs' encompassing a wide range of reasons for and expression of needs. The pace of research has continued to slow, and there are indications that research on education and certification has 'moved on' from its focus on COVID-19. Key findings are summarised below.

The impact of school closures and changes to support packages on children and young people with additional support needs (ASN):

 Children and young people with ASN are not one homogenous group; the term ASN covers a wide range of needs. Children with different needs were affected differently

- by school closures and changes to support packages, but overall, children with ASN were disproportionately affected.
- The pandemic impacted on the learning, rights and participation, physical and mental health, family relationships, and access to support services of children and young people with ASN.
- Parents of children and young people with ASN faced additional challenges and barriers during school closures, and some experienced a lack of support. This had deep and wide impacts on family life.
- The pace of research in this area has slowed; there is a lack of recent research examining the impact on different groups of children and young people, which means that the mid-tolong-term impacts are largely unknown.
- Transitions into, between and out of education settings have been challenging for all during the pandemic, but have brought additional challenges for some children and young people with ASN.
- Scottish Government allocated £240 million for recruitment of extra staff to support resilience and additional support needs, but some schools, local authorities and unions have indicated that this won't be enough money for recovery.

The intersectional impact of the pandemic:

- School closures and changes to support packages exacerbated existing inequalities. These inequalities intersect with ASN, further compounding disadvantage in multiple, complex ways, many of which remain largely unexplored.
- Poverty and inequality underpin and exacerbate many of the challenges faced by vulnerable groups.
- For children and young people who required more than one type of support (health, social, education), lack of access to some supports may have had detrimental effects on their ability to access and benefit fully from the other supports.

 As time goes on it will become harder to disentangle the impacts of school closures/ changes to support services from other social changes like the cost of living crisis, but it is essential that mitigating the longer-term impacts of the pandemic on the most vulnerable remains a priority.

Impact on specific groups with additional support needs:

- There is a lack of systematic research using representative samples to understand the impact of the pandemic on particular sub-groups of children and young people.
- School closures had disproportionate effects on the mental health of pupils with pre-existing mental health difficulties, those who were receiving additional educational support before the pandemic, and those experiencing financial difficulties.
- There may have been some positive impacts for some children and young people, such as the removal of exam stress or spending more time with family, but overall the evidence points overwhelmingly to negative impacts.
- The number of children on the child protection register and becoming looked-after decreased during the pandemic, but it is likely that an increasing number of children have needs that were unmet during school closures due to a focus on those at the highest risk.
- There were additional challenges around access to learning for care leavers, those experiencing poverty, those who required specialist equipment, and EAL learners, refugees and families seeking asylum.
- The impact of various approaches to re-opening school buildings, rebuilding relationships, and supporting emotional wellbeing remains underexplored.

Introduction

The right to education is enshrined in the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child. This right has been profoundly affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. UNESCO estimates that nearly 1.6 billion (91.3%) learners in 194 countries experienced closures of schools and universities. In response, education practitioners at all levels adapted to an ever-changing context, utilising technology and finding new and creative ways to meet young people's needs.

However, an increasing body of evidence indicates ways in which the impacts of COVID-19 were not equally distributed. We know that children and young people living in the most disadvantaged circumstances experienced the most significant impact (reference 1). Inequalities have been exacerbated and amplified by COVID-19 and responses to it, creating periods of uncertainty, pressure and instability for children and young people in families already living with the trappings of poverty and the current cost of living crisis. The loss of contact due to COVID-19 restrictions and periods of isolation increased vulnerability for some children and in the most serious of cases, led to direct harm including increased levels of abuse at home and online (reference 2). Concerns about the mental health of young people have been a constant focus for our collective attention. As a cohort, young people have been less likely to fall seriously ill but have felt the full force of changes to the education landscape on their learning, academic progress, personal health and wellbeing overall.

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic here in Scotland has been vast and deep. Although education practitioners here have used technology and found new and creative ways to meet the needs of learners, the pandemic, and responses to it, have profoundly affected the lives of children and young people.

These effects have been felt most directly by children and young people with additional support needs (ASN). For most young people, schools and community-based youth work services are crucial in providing an environment in which to learn, build relationships and stay active (reference 3). For many with ASN, this access is a lifeline of support, providing a physical space for learning, and importantly, for safety, emotional connection, and routine.

This new research builds on the findings of our earlier study The Delivery of Education and Certification, Impact of COVID-19 on Children and Young People, led by Prof McCluskey in 2022, commissioned for the Scottish COVID-19 Public Inquiry. This new study focuses specifically on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on children and young people with additional support needs. In this way, this research aims to support the overall aim of the Inquiry: to establish the facts of, and learn lessons from, the strategic response to the COVID-19 pandemic in Scotland. It covers only the strategic response of the devolved administration in Scotland.

Methodology

Key Questions

This study offers a robust assessment of:

- The impact of school closures on children and young people who required additional support to benefit from their school education; and
- The impact of changes to support packages on children and young people with additional support needs, while schools were closed.

Research Design

Search Criteria

The terms 'education' and 'certification' are necessarily broad and, while recognising the challenges of definitional agreement, we include here issues pertaining to the following: formal and informal education including youth work; school structures and environment; leadership; teaching and teachers; staff wellbeing and welfare; access to schools and other educational establishments; teacher education, pedagogies (including digital literacies); assessment and attainment, formal and informal curricula; inter-professional and cross-disciplinary partnership working; personal and social aspects of education; pastoral care; transition arrangements. In addition, there is consideration of measures of performance such as attainment levels and other accredited learning, rates of attendance, absence and exclusion.

The term 'Additional Support Needs' is defined within the Education (Additional Support for Learning) (Scotland) Act (2004), as amended. The most recent Statutory Guidance (2017) (reference 4) is also helpful here. It re-emphasises that the term is intended to be 'broad and inclusive'; that it applies to 'children or young people who, for whatever reason, require additional support, in the long or short term, in order to help them make the most of their school education and to be included fully in their learning. Children or young people may require additional support for a variety of reasons and [the term] may include those who:

- have motor or sensory impairments
- have low birth weight
- are being bullied
- are children of parents in the Armed Forces

- · are particularly able or talented
- have experienced a bereavement
- are affected by imprisonment of a family member
- are interrupted learners
- have a learning disability
- have barriers to learning as a result of a health need, such as fetal alcohol spectrum disorder
- are looked after by a local authority or who have been adopted
- have a learning difficulty, such as dyslexia
- are living with parents who are abusing substances
- are living with parents who have mental health problems
- have English as an additional language
- are not attending school regularly
- have emotional or social difficulties
- are on the child protection register
- are refugees
- are young carers.'

This Statutory Guidance (2017) goes on to reiterate that this list is not intended to be exhaustive, though neither should it be assumed that inclusion in the list inevitably implies that additional support will be necessary, except in the case of looked-after children and young people. All care-experienced young people are assumed to have ASN unless the education authority deems to the contrary. This study has been guided by the parameters of these definitions.

The search included:

- Literature published in English since January 2020, and by the end of March 2023, relevant to Scotland.
- Literature focused on children and young people between ages 5 to 19.

- Literature focused on the delivery of education and certification, including achievement (attainment and accreditation), attendance, exclusion, school closure.
- Literature focused on experiences and outcomes of children with additional support needs.
- Literature including national surveys and statistical datasets, empirical research (qualitative and quantitative), metaanalyses, relevant legislation, policy guidance and briefings, trade union and professional association documents.

The following were excluded from the search:

- Literature not published in English.
- Literature related to pre-school education.
- Literature with a clinical focus.

Data Sources

Data sources included: national surveys and statistical data sets on e.g. school achievement, qualification and accreditation, attendance, exclusion; national, UK and international research studies relating to education and certification published in the period from 1 January 2020 to the end of March 2023, and contextualised within existing literature on the impacts of COVID-19 and broader historical patterns and trends, relevant national legislation, guidance and briefings, trade union and professional association documents.

Search Strategy and Analysis

The search included analysis of relevant national and international, qualitative and quantitative empirical research, legislation, policy and grey literature, reporting on issues relating to education and certification in the context of the pandemic in Scotland, taking full account of the methodological rigour, reliability and generalisability of each source.

Search terms included: Scotland, children, young people, student, school, college, COVID-19/pandemic, education, community, family, key worker, youth work, disadvantage, vulnerability, disruption, attendance, exclusion, attainment, achievement, accreditation, online/remote/home learning, isolation, lockdown, recovery, school building closure, digital access/exclusion/poverty, additional support needs/special needs/disability, wellbeing/health/mental health, teacher, education workforce.

Coding and thematic analysis adopted approaches from Braun and Clarke (reference 5). A coding frame was developed based on the frame used for the previous study, and extended to include a review of all newly available evidence. Emerging themes and sub-themes were cross-checked against search criteria and, through an iterative process, used as a basis to create thematic summaries and identify key findings.

Limitations

It is important to recognise that desk-based research in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic often still draws on early findings because the pandemic itself is so recent and, at the time of writing, still a major global issue. It is important to note that there was a pre-existing paucity of large-scale qualitative research generally in the field of education and this is also the case in relation to ASN. Furthermore, our analysis in the previous report revealed how quickly some of the available data has become obsolete and how quickly assumptions made, e.g. about school closures, financial and resource costs, have been overtaken by the rapidly changing shape and impact of the pandemic. These limitations notwithstanding, the updated study will provide a necessary and invaluable synthesis of the evidence available to date.

Ethical considerations

This research study has been subject to the detailed scrutiny and approvals process of the Moray House School of Education and Sport's research ethics, integrity and governance committee. As the study is focused on secondary data analysis rather than primary data collection, issues of confidentiality and anonymity are relatively unproblematic. Nonetheless, ethical considerations have remained central throughout, centred on ensuring that the greatest possible good comes from the study. Following the guidelines provided by the Ethics Guidance for Scottish Government Social Science Researchers (2015) (reference 6), and the British Educational Research Association (2018) (reference 7), our duties were: to ensure we were transparent and explicit about choices and decisions in relation to methodology and findings, to protect the integrity of the study undertaken, conduct this research to the highest standards, to be open to and engage with critical analysis and constructive criticism aimed at improving research practice and knowledge, and to protect but also extend understanding of existing research related to education and certification in Scotland overall during the pandemic.

Quality Assurance

Professor McCluskey has been responsible for all aspects of quality assurance and data management, including responsibility for data collection, quality and management and the overall data management plan as well as data storage, security and back up requirements. Professor McCluskey has also been responsible for ensuring all ethical approvals.

Section 1: The Impact of School Closures and Changes to Support Packages on Children and Young People with Additional Support Needs

Summary

- Children and young people with ASN are not one homogenous group; the term ASN covers a wide range of needs. Children with different needs were affected differently by school closures and changes to support packages, but overall, children with ASN were disproportionately affected.
- The pandemic impacted on the learning, rights and participation, physical and mental health, family relationships, and access to support services, of children and young people with ASN.
- Parents of children and young people with ASN faced additional challenges and barriers during school closures, and some experienced a lack of support. This had deep and wide impacts on family life.
- The pace of research in this area has slowed; there is a lack of recent research examining the impact on different groups of children and young people, which means that the mid-tolong term impacts are largely unknown.
- Scottish Government allocated £240 million for recruitment of extra staff to support resilience and additional support needs, but some schools, local authorities and unions have indicated that this won't be enough money for recovery.

Key Events and Related Changes to Relevant Educational Legislation, Policy and Guidelines that Affected Children and Young People with Additional Support Needs

During lockdowns in 2020 and 2021, Scottish Government required local authorities to move teaching online but retain face-to-face teaching for the children of key workers and vulnerable children via a system of local 'hub' schools (reference 8). Education Scotland suspended many regular activities including the statutory requirement for school inspections (references 9, 10). The COVID Education Recovery Group (CERG) was formed in April 2020, chaired by the Cabinet Secretary for Education and Skills. It had 11 workstreams. Throughout the acute phase of the pandemic (reference 11) it supported the development of guidance, including 'Coronavirus (COVID-19): guidance on reducing risks in schools', which was published in 17 versions between July 2020 and February 2022. This guidance stated the necessity of complying with Additional Support for Learning legislation (reference 12), for example in the use of facemasks and in creating individual risk assessments for students who are at increased clinical risk from COVID or with complex additional support needs. CERG had its final meeting in March 2022 (reference 13). Also of relevance to many children and young people with ASN were changes to health and social care provision which meant that non-urgent treatment and face-toface services outside of hospitals were suspended and services provided remote support (reference 14).

In guidance to local authorities, Scottish Government highlighted the importance of making local decisions about how best to support children with ASN; nationally, reference to children and young people with additional support needs was made throughout broader Scottish Government guidance about

supporting learning throughout the pandemic. Guidance encouraged local authorities to take into account the individual needs of children, plan carefully and communicate with children and parents/carers, 'take an inclusive approach to learning' and work with partner organisations (reference 15). Information for parents of children with ASN was available through the Scottish Government funded website and associated information packs (references 16, 17).

Impact on the Rights and Participation of Children and Young People with Additional Support Needs

The number of children and young people recorded by schools as having an additional support need was increasing before the pandemic (reference 18), partly due to improved reporting and widening of the definition of additional support needs (ASN). The number of pupils recorded as having an ASN continued to increase throughout the pandemic; there does not appear to have been a sudden jump in recording. It is possible that some ASNs are unrecognised or unrecorded, or that the pandemic has changed the 'baseline' for some ASNs (for example, almost the entirety of Scotland's pupils could be, but are not, currently recorded as 'interrupted learners' due to school closures). By 2022, 34% of children were recorded as having an additional support need (references 19, 20).

Research with children and young people with additional support needs throughout the pandemic has highlighted the importance of feeling valued and listened to (reference 21). Children's rights analyses have highlighted that several of the continuity directions empowered by the Coronavirus Act 2020 excused local authorities from some of their responsibilities towards children and young people with ASN, including making

'adequate and efficient provision' for additional support and meeting time limits, including around assessments and placing requests, with failures in these areas attributable to the pandemic (references 22, 23). The tribunal that ordinarily deals with ASN appeals dealt only with time-critical cases, with children's participation minimised and hearings moved to conference calls or heard by a judge with no input from other members (reference 24). An independent Children's Rights Impact Assessment carried out by the Observatory of Children's Human Rights Scotland found that '...many children and young people with ASN have been unable to access adequate additional support for learning or teaching either in school or remotely' during the first school closures (reference 25). The pre-existing low number of children and young people with co-ordinated support plans (CSPs) made it harder to assess needs and risks when making decisions about the best interests of children with ASN throughout the pandemic (reference 26).

Impact on Learning

Parents, children and young people report that they were not adequately supported in their learning, were often given the same input as others in their mainstream class, and therefore became frustrated when they were unable to complete it. Being unable to see familiar people and faces was particularly difficult for those with communication challenges (references 27, 28, 29). This meant that transitions were particularly challenging for many young people with ASN who would usually have had an enhanced transition package involving extra in-person visits (references 30, 31).

Qualitative studies with parents of children and young people with ASN found that parents spent a great deal of time and

energy filtering, adapting, preparing and 'translating' online resources into physical resources so that their children could access the curriculum, which had practical and mental health implications. This was partly due to the online nature of the work but partly due to the level of work being inappropriate for the children, and because children with additional support needs often benefit from the use of physical manipulatives (references 32, 33, 34). Some parents faced particular challenges engaging with education resources in this way, including those struggling financially, those who had to work outside the home, and those with limited English. Although an HMIE review of the impact of online learning on children with ASN suggested that things improved during the second lockdown, with more planned contact from teachers (reference 35), it should be noted that this review was based on the views of schools and did not include the accounts of parents or children and young people (reference 36).

Research with teachers highlights the challenges of meeting the needs of learners with ASN online; differentiating work was difficult and teachers were concerned about the impact of the move to online learning for children and young people who found it harder to access the work (reference 37). The support provided to pupils varied widely by school, and parents and young people pointed out that regular communication in the form of phone calls or online meetings between school and ASN pupils had been strongly beneficial. Schools provided this to varying degrees (references 38, 39). Learning from home worked well for some and was extremely difficult for others, highlighting that people learn in different ways and should be supported and encouraged to work in the ways that best suit them (reference 40).

Some young people have said that the additional support they required when they returned to in-person schooling was 'pushed aside', that they had not received enough support, and

that staff absence had made it challenging to make progress (reference 41).

Wider Impacts on Children and Young People with Additional Support Needs and Their Families

International, UK and Scottish research has considered the impact of school closures on parents of children with ASN. It points to a lack of support, particularly in the early phase of the pandemic. This particularly affected lone parents who found themselves with access to none of their usual support and respite, those who needed to work in paid employment, those with financial worries, and those with more than one child. This lack of support contributed to 'stress, anxiety, domestic conflict and social isolation' (references 42, 43, 44, 45, 46, 47).

A large longitudinal UK study showed that at the start of the first lockdown, children and young people with ADHD and/or ASD had more mental health problems than others. Over time (reference 48), they experienced some emotional and behavioural improvements, but 'attentional problems' remained unchanged. Overall, neurodiverse children and those with 'special educational needs' experienced greater behavioural, emotional, and attentional difficulties throughout the study (2020-22) than others (references 49, 50). The same study found that for the sample in general, behavioural, emotional, and attentional difficulties decreased as pandemic restrictions eased in 2021, but children with 'SEND' (reference 51) and those from low-income families had 'not shown this post-lockdown recovery' by October 2022 (reference 52).

For some children and young people who had previously had negative experiences of school or who were not accessing school at the onset of the pandemic, online learning meant increased accessibility, and some parents saw improvements in their children's development, although this is likely to be moderated by other factors including financial stress (references 53, 54). For many, the closing, reopening, then closing again of schools was difficult to adjust to (reference 55), and UK evidence suggests that this affected the subsequent school attendance of children and young people with neurodevelopmental conditions (reference 56).

Pupil census data suggests that the proportion of the children and young people attending special schools who spend no time in mainstream classes may have increased slightly during the pandemic (reference 57), although there appears to be an overall lack of evidence about the impact of the pandemic on special schools in Scotland.

Hub Schools

In Scotland, fewer schools remained open during the pandemic than in the rest of the UK, in part because schools in Scotland were opened as local 'hubs' rather than individual schools. Hub school places were available to children whose parents were key workers or who were considered 'vulnerable', with the details of eligibility determined locally. Only around 1% of eligible children and young people, and 4% of 'vulnerable' children and young people attended Scotland's hub schools during lockdowns (references 58, 59). Stigma and fear of infection are likely to have played a part in low take-up (references 60, 61, 62) but some research with parents of children and young people with ASN has highlighted a lack of clarity about eligibility (references 63, 64, 65). Support for complex additional needs could often not be provided in hub schools (reference 66). Disaggregated data about who used

hub schools – and who did not use them and why – does not appear to be available, although it seems that the large majority of those using the hubs were children of key workers (references 67, 68).

Services and Recovery

Over the last decade, while overall education spending has increased, spending on ASN in mainstream schools had fallen (references 69, 70, 71). In June 2020, an independent review of ASL was published, although the review itself had concluded in February 2020, before lockdowns began (reference 72). An ASL action plan was developed (reference 73), and the Additional Support for Learning Project Board (reference 74), with representation from local government, third sector, parent groups, unions and children's groups, currently supports delivery of the action plan (references 75, 76, 77).

A planned Audit Scotland review of resource and spend on additional support needs in education was postponed due to the pandemic (references 78, 79), and Audit Scotland has highlighted 'The effectiveness of actions to improve outcomes for young people with additional support needs and to mitigate the impact of COVID-19' as a potential area for further work (references 80, 81, 82). Scottish Government allocated £240 million for recruitment of extra staff to support resilience and additional support needs, but some schools, local authorities and unions have indicated that this won't be enough money for recovery (references 83, 84, 85), that funding has not been adequately targeted and impact has not been adequately measured since the beginning of the pandemic (reference 86). The creation of the National Measurement Framework for Additional Support for Learning and the implementation of the ASL action plan may go some way to rectify this.

Attainment and Achievement

Limited attainment data was collected during the pandemic, and due to changes to the ways that qualifications were assessed during 2019/20 and 2020/21, caution should be used when interpreting change over time (reference 87), but with these caveats it is possible to consider attainment over time.

Between 2018/19 and 2021/22, the literacy gap between those with and without ASN reduced slightly across primary level literacy, mainly due to reduced achievement levels among those recorded as having no ASN (references 88, 89). The numeracy gap remains the same as in 2018/19. It is possible that the small reduction in the literacy gap may be partially explained by the use of additional resources such as 'catch-up' teaching, additional supported study sessions, and additional reading support in 2021/22 (reference 90), but there is a need for evidence around how additional funding was used and targeted, the sustainability of these resources and outcomes, and their impact on children and young people with additional support needs (references 91, 92). Crucially, the gap still remains wide; in 2021/22, the attainment gap between those with and without an ASN at primary school was 33 percentage points for literacy, and 29 for numeracy.

Similarly, the gap between school leavers with at least one SCQF level 5 increased slightly in 2019/20 then decreased in subsequent years, leading to a small decrease in the gap by 2021/22 (references 93, 94, 95, 96). Overall, pupils with ASNs are less likely than those without to achieve formal qualifications, and the gap widens as qualification level increases (reference 97).

Achievement is far wider than exam results, but data about wider achievement, for example through work experience and

apprenticeships, and wider wellbeing, which is often particularly important for children and young people with additional support needs, is not always available and has not been prioritised (references 98, 99). There is a limit to how much this achievement data can tell us about the impact of the pandemic due to missing data, but also because the impact on children and young people with ASN has been wide and complex. Those who already required additional support have been disproportionately affected by the pandemic (references 100, 101), but to adequately understand the impact of the school closures and changes to support packages on children and young people with ASNs it is necessary to consider the intersectional impact of the pandemic, and the experiences and outcomes of those with specific ASNs.

Section 2: The Intersectional Impact of the Pandemic

Summary

- School closures and changes to support packages exacerbated existing inequalities. These inequalities intersect with ASN, further compounding disadvantage in multiple, complex ways, many of which remain largely unexplored.
- Poverty and inequality underpin and exacerbate many of the challenges faced by vulnerable groups.
- For children and young people who required more than one type of support (health, social, education), lack of access to some supports may have had detrimental effects on their ability to access and benefit fully from the other supports.
- As time goes on it will become harder to disentangle the impacts of school closures/ changes to support services from other social changes like the cost of living crisis, but it is essential that mitigating the longer-term impacts of the pandemic on the most vulnerable remains a priority.

The pandemic has disproportionately affected some groups of children and young people. These include those living in poverty and from disadvantaged backgrounds, young people with disabilities, young people from BAME groups, LGBTQI+ young people, and children and young people in rural communities (references 102, 103, 104). Not all of these groups appear on the 'list' of reasons for Additional Support Needs provided in statutory guidance (reference 105), but all these factors are likely to have intersected with young people's additional support needs since the beginning of the pandemic, further compounding the challenges of COVID-19.

Pupils in the most deprived areas are consistently around twice as likely as those in the least deprived areas to be recorded as having an additional support need (reference 106), although this is far higher for some specific support needs such as social, emotional and behavioural difficulties and being a looked-after child (reference 107). Poverty intersects with disability, ethnicity, sex, child protection interventions and child removals, exclusion and marginalisation, and affects all aspects of life (references 108, 109). Families in Scotland including a disabled person, lone parent families - over 90% of which are headed by women – and some ethnic minority families, especially those seeking asylum, are more likely than others to experience poverty (reference 110). Scottish Government research found that for families on low incomes, the 'single biggest source of worry was around isolation and schools closing and the harmful impact this was having on their children's education, emotional growth and mental health' (reference 111).

We know that the pandemic exacerbated existing inequalities (references 112, 113, 114). The pandemic had many direct impacts on the financial pressures experienced by families. Many were worried about job losses and the financial impact of furlough, or lost their jobs altogether; those working in low-paid or precarious roles were more at risk of job losses than others. The cost of additional heating, particularly during the winter school closures, food, and connectivity was disproportionate for those who had less income to start with (references 115, 116, 117).

Access to Education and Services

Digital exclusion affected families' ability to access support and services and to stay connected to family and friends (reference

118). Some families had no access to digital devices or connectivity at the onset of the pandemic (references 119, **120**). This appears to have improved somewhat by the winter school closures, although evidence from children's organisations suggests that not all children and young people had access to a digital device by then (reference 121), and connectivity remained an issue in rural areas (reference 122). The ability to access online learning depended not only on access to devices and connectivity, but also parents' ability to support learning, which depended on their economic circumstances, work status, and their own language barriers, as well as the support needs of their children (references 123, **124**). For those who required more than one type of support (health, social, education), lack of access to some supports may have had detrimental effects on their ability to access and benefit fully from the other supports (reference 125). Provision from schools was not equal; children and young people in deprived areas were less likely to have access to online lessons, further reinforcing inequalities (references 126, 127). Socioeconomic inequalities in absenteeism were higher postlockdown than in previous years, driven by those from lower socioeconomic backgrounds missing more school for reasons related to COVID-19 (references 128, 129, 130).

Black and minority ethnic pupils were more likely to face increased social isolation, greater risks of poverty and financial and food insecurity and overcrowding during the pandemic (references 131, 132). Children and young people from Gypsy/ Traveller communities may have faced further exclusion from educational services and support due to challenges around digital access, space to study, and for some, parents' literacy (reference 133). There is a lack of evidence about the impact of the pandemic on specific ethnic minority groups (reference 134).

The mental health impact of school closures affected children, young people and families in poverty in specific ways; the pivot to online mental health provision was not accessible to those who did not have the childcare, space, and digital access to talk confidentially. Lockdowns compounded existing mental health problems and exacerbated feelings of shame about poverty (references 135, 136). There were negative consequences of school closures and the pivot to online services for LGBT young people, including an increase in online bullying and prejudice (references 137, 138).

Many families in Scotland whose children were eligible for free school meals were unable to access adequate provision during initial school closures (references 139, 140, 141, 142). Some groups of children and young people, including disabled people, those caring for or cared for by someone who was shielding, and those living in 'food deserts' were disproportionately impacted by changes to free school meals during the pandemic (references 143, 144). Youth work and community approaches enabled many families to access food and support (reference 145), but an independent child rights assessment commissioned by Scotland's children's commissioner concluded that 'The state response was inadequate and inconsistent, relying too heavily on the third sector to deliver on state obligations, and with too little direction given to local authorities which resulted in many children entitled to support not receiving it due to inconsistent approaches...' (reference 146). Although most local authorities had moved to cash payments, as preferred by families, by the time of the winter lockdown (references 147, 148), there has been little subsequent analysis of the impact of the loss of free school meals during this time on children and young people. Access to outdoor space was an issue for families on lower incomes, particularly for those in built-up areas, and especially when play parks and sports facilities were closed and families without access to a garden reported being

stopped by the police for playing outdoors with their children in public spaces (references 149, 150). We know that physical health, mental health and educational attainment are interconnected (references 151, 152, 153, 154), so it is highly likely that the closure of schools and sports and leisure facilities, combined with not being allowed to play outside, and lack of access to food, had a detrimental impact on the health and therefore learning of children and young people experiencing poverty.

Attainment

The pandemic has had a disproportionate impact on the attainment of children and young people from the most deprived areas of Scotland. In 2021/22, the gap between the curriculum for excellence level achievement of literacy and numeracy of children and young people from the most and least deprived areas was wider than in 2018/19 for both primary and secondary, suggesting that the impact of the pandemic was ongoing. The gap decreased between 2020/21 and 2021/22 (reference 155), but the longer term impact is currently still unknown (reference 156).

School leavers' data shows that the gap widened in 2019/20 across all levels of qualification (SCQF 4, 5 and 6), narrowed slightly in 2020/21, then widened again in 2021/22, except at SCQF level 4, where it continued to narrow. The gap widens with qualification level. At SCQF level 6 the gap is wider than it was in 2018/19 (reference 157).

Spending restrictions on Attainment Scotland funding were relaxed in 2019/20 and 2020/21, and schools used this funding to provide a wide range of support including family support and digital assistance. An additional premium was introduced in

2021, recognising the need for recovery efforts. COVID-19 restrictions presented some challenges to a fully flexible approach, for example not being able to mix classes, and decreased staff and pupil attendance. There is evidence of innovative, creative practice during this time (reference 158) but systematic evidence about the interventions used, with whom, and what the outcomes were, is lacking (reference 159).

In the wake of the pandemic some have pointed to the problems with SG's current way of targeting poverty (references 160, 161). Audit Scotland point out that the current approach 'does not fully capture pupils living in poverty' for various reasons including not being able to fully account for rural poverty and pockets of deprivation within affluent areas. They suggest that 'Future efforts to tackle the poverty-related attainment gap, including the targeting of funds, should take account of the impact of COVID-19 on the scale and spread of poverty' (reference 162).

The Scottish Attainment Challenge programme has been refreshed in light of the pandemic and local authorities have set their own ambitious 'stretch aims' aiming to narrow the attainment gap. Some, but not all, local authorities have considered the intersection of poverty and ASN in doing so (reference 163). There is ongoing debate within the education sector about whether the use of attainment performance measures to help close the attainment gap has unintended consequences on children and young people's mental and physical health recovery (references 164, 165).

Section 3: Impact on Specific Groups with Additional Support Needs

Summary

- There is a lack of systematic research using representative samples to understand the impact of the pandemic on particular sub-groups of children and young people.
- School closures had disproportionate effects on the mental health of pupils with pre-existing mental health difficulties, those who were receiving additional educational support before the pandemic, and those experiencing financial difficulties.
- The number of children on the child protection register and becoming looked after decreased during the pandemic, but it is likely that an increasing number of children have needs that were unmet during school closures due to a focus on those at the highest risk.
- There were additional challenges around access to learning for care leavers, those experiencing poverty, those who required specialist equipment, and EAL learners, refugees and families seeking asylum.
- The impact of various approaches to re-opening school buildings, rebuilding relationships, and supporting emotional wellbeing remains underexplored.

Disabled and Seriously III Children and Young People

Disruption and reduced access to agencies and services affected children and young people with physical health difficulties. Many families with disabled children were advised

to avoid all contact with those outside the household, and those on the shielding list were told to quarantine even from those within the household, which is not possible for children with disabilities, who require care and support. Many whole families therefore quarantined, increasing isolation and pressure (references 166, 167), or separated siblings to reduce the risk of their shielding child contracting COVID-19 (reference 168). Paid personal assistants were often no longer able to provide care; one UK-wide study found that 75% of families with disabled or seriously ill children experienced decreased support during the pandemic (reference 169). Some young people living in supported accommodation before the pandemic had to move back in with their parents. These changes had an impact on the autonomy of many disabled children and young people, family roles and relationships, and a loss of respite for carers (references 170, 171, 172, 173), leaving families exhausted and struggling to cope (reference 174). UK research found that people who reported living with someone in a high-risk group were more likely to experience depression and anxiety (reference 175). During the chronic pandemic years, many families expressed concern that cuts to care packages would continue after the pandemic (reference 176).

The financial situations of many families of disabled or seriously ill children worsened (reference 177), with delays to assessment processes often having an additional financial impact (reference 178). In Scotland, there was an uplift to carer's allowance during the pandemic (reference 179).

For children with rare conditions, the loss of specialist services during lockdowns posed specific challenges. Parents of children with rare neurogenetic conditions reported greater anxiety and greater impact of their children's behavioural difficulties than others, including those with other neurodevelopmental conditions (reference 180). Children who required medical treatment that was usually accessed at school

often had their treatment paused during school closures, and referrals and diagnoses were delayed or missed. For some children, this has far-reaching and serious implications: 'windows of opportunity to develop skills such as fine motor skills are lost; it may lead to short- and long-term pain' (reference 181) and physical deterioration (reference 182).

Although children were overall at lower risk from the direct health impacts of COVID-19, some developed debilitating long-term conditions (long covid) as a direct result of infection, making it difficult to attend and engage with school (references 183, 184). Recent statistics suggest that 62,000 2-16 year olds across the UK may be experiencing long covid (reference 185).

Children and young people with visual impairments were disadvantaged by the move to online learning because of the loss of practical, hands-on learning, and because the specialist software and equipment they usually used could not be provided at home (reference 186). Deaf children and young people reported the problems facemasks caused and the anxiety they felt if they asked people to remove them to help understanding (reference 187). Disability studies scholars have pointed out that the move to online learning and the subsequent return to face-to-face have had uneven effects on disabled students and staff, and decisions continue to be based on what suits able-bodied people (reference 188).

Research with people with learning disabilities and their carers has been critical of transition arrangements during the pandemic, pointing out that the lack of plans and funding that had been put in place highlighted a disparity between policy aspirations and the realities of families (references 189, 190).

Children and Young People with Pre-Existing Mental Health Difficulties

Throughout the pandemic, Scottish Government guidance for schools emphasised the importance of wellbeing (references 191, 192). The impact of school closures on the mental health of children and young people has been well documented (references 193, 194). Research has suggested that the mental health and practical consequences of the pandemic have been worse for those with pre-existing mental health difficulties and those who are already 'isolated or on the margins, and more vulnerable to risk' (references 195, 196, 197, 198, 199). A mixed methods study of 899 14-18 year olds found that young people who received additional support at school prior to COVID-19 were at a higher risk than others of depression (four times more likely than others) and PTSD-like symptoms (twice as likely as others) during the pandemic, a finding which is borne out in qualitative research (references 200, 201). The same study found that those who had previously received mental health support prior to COVID-19 were four times likelier than others to experience clinical depression and anxiety during the pandemic, leading the authors to conclude that 'adolescents with pre-existing symptoms have been uniquely, and negatively, impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic' (reference 202). While some young people expressed a positive impact of the removal of exam stress, this was not the case for those who had previously sought mental health support.

Mental health services outside of hospitals moved online during lockdowns. A UK-wide survey suggested that in March 2020, although the majority of young people with pre-existing mental health problems were able to still access mental health support, a quarter were not (reference 203), rising to 31% in summer 2020 (reference 204). In autumn 2020, when students

returned to in-person learning, 61% of those with pre-existing mental health problems said the return to school had had a negative impact on their mental health, and almost a quarter said their schools had less mental health support available than before the pandemic (reference 205). The mental health impacts of the winter lockdown appear to have been worse than the previous lockdowns, with 75% of those with pre-existing mental health problems saying they were finding the winter lockdown harder to cope with. 67% said they thought the pandemic would have a long-term impact on their mental health (reference 206).

Although face-to-face mental health services re-opened, many of the routes for access/referrals (schools, leisure centres, youth clubs) remained closed or online. In addition, the number of children and young people attending hospital due to self-harm reduced during lockdown periods (reference 207) despite a pre-COVID-19 increase for several years (reference 208), suggesting that 'government restrictions might have inadvertently further discouraged help-seeking behaviour in those who were in need', particularly from those living in more deprived areas, although the authors point out that this could alternatively reflect improved mental health as a result of some academic stressors being removed during lockdowns (references 209, 210).

Data from Public Health Scotland suggests that demand for mental health services outstripped supply during 2021, with average waiting times increasing by more than four weeks, and the proportion of people waiting more than a year for an initial consultation rising drastically (reference 211). Researchers have expressed concern that increased demand, combined with financial pressure on services, may lead to worsening delays (reference 212).

Scottish Government reports that counselling services and preventative mental health services (reference 213) are now in place and can be accessed from secondary schools across Scotland, although the way these are organised and delivered varies across local authorities. Of the 17,786 children and young people who used these preventative services between July and December 2021, 3,371 had learning disabilities, were LGBT+ or were care-experienced.

Children on the Child Protection Register, Looked-After Children, and Care-Experienced Young People

Those on the child protection register, looked-after children and care-experienced young people are not a homogenous group – these terms cover a wide range of living situations, including, among others, those who are living at home with their parents but are on the child protection register or looked after at home, those living with prospective adopters, and those living in a secure unit. For many children and young people in this group, however, '..., disruption, isolation and chaos is not a once in a lifetime, extraordinary event. This is often the status quo, and lockdown represents a lit match dropped in petrol, explosively compounding disadvantage and risking a lost generation' (reference 214).

School Closures

In a 2021 survey with care-experienced young people, three quarters said they had received less support from professionals (teachers/lecturers, social workers, doctors) during the pandemic (reference 215). This is particularly important, as care-experienced people are less likely to have family support networks to fall back on. In an MCR pathways survey with

young people in care or on the edge of care in 2020, two thirds of young people said they felt low, more anxious and stressed since lockdown, and two thirds said they had not engaged with any of the educational materials provided by their schools because they were too hard to understand and they were too stressed and anxious to do any schoolwork. In addition, those surveyed said they were worried about getting back into the school routine (80%), finding it hard to get back to normal (77%); and being behind with school work (76%) (references 216, 217).

Researchers pointed out the disproportionate impact of the lack of digital access experienced by many care leavers during the pandemic; access to advice and information, services and application forms all moved online during the pandemic, and care leavers were no longer able to access public libraries to use the internet during this time (reference 218).

Care-experienced parents and parents of looked-after children were not always aware of their entitlement to use 'hub' schools during the pandemic (reference 219).

Support Services

Sources of child protection referrals changed during school closures, with more referrals from Police Scotland and the community, and fewer from education (reference 220). Although child protection referrals and inter-agency referral discussions (IRDs) increased during the pandemic years, there was a decrease in child protection registrations (references 221, 222, 223). This decrease may be partially due to the 'creativity and responsiveness' of multi-agency partners working together, the pandemic creating a shared experience and supporting a move towards more compassionate, relational practice and the provision of financial support, and a reduced number of children's hearings (reference 224).

Analysis of more detailed, weekly data shows that during lockdowns, there were fewer IRDs but a higher proportion were placed on the child protection register (a higher 'conversion rate' from IRD to child protection registration than pre-pandemic and post-lockdown) (reference 225). The reduced IRDs during lockdowns are likely to be a result of professionals' (education, health, family support) reduced contact with vulnerable children and young people, suggesting that children may have experienced 'hidden harm' (references 226, 227). Social work managers attribute the higher conversion rate to children referred having more complex needs than pre-pandemic. Concerns focused on the mental health of children and parents, parental alcohol and substance use, neglect, and emotional abuse. Although these were pre-existing concerns, there was a perception that they worsened during the pandemic due to increased financial pressure, pressure on family relationships, stress and isolation (reference 228).

The number of children not meeting the threshold for child protection registration, but with unmet needs requiring more support than universal services, is thought to be increasing, but the pandemic has necessitated a focus on the children at greatest risk. Concerns have been expressed by researchers in Scotland and internationally about gaps in knowledge about this group of children (references 229, 230).

Evidence from third sector organisations in Scotland suggests that many parents struggled during the pandemic, with an increase to helplines such as Parentline and the NSPCC helpline, and calls focusing on concerns about financial and emotional wellbeing. Calls to Scotland's Domestic Abuse and Forced Marriage Helpline highlighted that some abusers were using pandemic restrictions as opportunities for controlling behaviour and abuse, including through child contact (reference 231). For those who were already accessing family support services, the pandemic exacerbated the often complex

multiple adversities they faced. Research with social work practitioners in the early phase of the pandemic suggested that social workers were concerned about not being able to access families face-to-face and were worried about how families were coping (references 232, 233, 234). For these families, the closure of wider community services such as schools, leisure centres, and youth clubs had a disproportionate impact on mental health (reference 235). Children with family members in prison reported finding it very difficult not being able to see them for long periods of time, due to a mixture of pandemic restrictions and COVID-19-related staff shortages in prisons (references 236, 237).

International evidence (including Scotland) highlights that the rates of hospitalisations for self-harm increased for looked-after children during lockdowns, particularly in countries with stringent lockdown measures (references 238, 239).

Care leavers are likely to have been particularly negatively affected by changes to support services, because this group may struggle with employment, training and housing as they are less able to draw on family support networks. Qualitative research has highlighted the 'fractured and fragmented' transitions for care leavers during the pandemic (reference 240). There was a rise during the pandemic in the number of deaths of young people in throughcare and aftercare, from 4-7 in 2016-18 to 12 in 2019 and 15 in 2020 (references 241, 242). In October 2021, new arrangements for reviewing the deaths of children and young people were put in place (reference 243).

Specialist services were restricted even after the return to schools, meaning that many children and young people requiring support did not receive it. Virtual therapeutic support is difficult, and in many cases impossible, with children. This was particularly important for those who had experienced domestic violence during lockdowns, many of whom missed out on timely and appropriate recovery work (reference 244).

Attainment

Outcomes for looked-after children at are still significantly worse at all stages than for children overall (references 245, 246, 247).

The number of looked-after pupils leaving school with no qualifications decreased from 17% in 2018/19 to 13% in 2019/20 (reference 248), and rose again to 16% in 2020/21. The gap remains large – only 2% of all school leavers leave with no qualifications, making looked-after children eight times more likely to leave school with no qualifications than the general population. Although a lower proportion of looked-after young people left school in S4 or earlier in 2020/21 than in previous years, they were still more than three times likelier than all children to leave school at this age.

The proportion of children achieving curriculum for excellence levels relevant to their age fell for looked-after children and for 'all children' across all four domains (reading, writing, listening and speaking, numeracy) between 2018/19 and 2020/21. At primary 1 level, the gap between LAC and all pupils increased, but at P4 and P7 it decreased slightly, due to worsening outcomes for the 'all children' group (reference 249).

Social, Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties

The ASN category of 'social, emotional and behavioural difficulties' (SEBD) had been increasing before the pandemic, and is consistently the largest category of any ASN recorded. This label is often stigmatised and is associated with school exclusion. There is also a strong association with poverty; those from the most deprived areas are almost three times as likely as those in the least deprived areas to be recorded as

having SEBD (**reference 250**). The number of children and young people recorded in this category continued to increase throughout the pandemic, but not at a higher rate than before the pandemic, though this is unsurprising given that schools were closed for much of this time (**references 251, 252**).

It is likely that children and young people with SEBD have been affected in specific ways by the pandemic. Delivering practical and work-based courses was challenging throughout the pandemic, and even when schools reopened, due to ongoing, though less severe, restrictions (references 253, 254). This is likely to have particularly affected young people who would otherwise have had an education timetable shared between school and college or practical provision (references 255, 256, 257). Restrictions on youth work services also disproportionately affected this group. Shifts between in-person and online learning are likely to have been difficult, but the impact of various approaches to re-opening school buildings, rebuilding relationships, and supporting emotional wellbeing remains underexplored.

Since schools reopened there has been increased attention on behaviour, with media reports and industrial action centring concerns around staff safety due to the perceived violent behaviour of some children and young people (reference 258). In response, there has been a Scottish Parliament debate (reference 259) and the Education Secretary has announced that a 'behaviour summit' will be convened in the coming weeks (reference 260). The most recent Behaviour in Scottish Schools survey data available is from 2016, as the most recent wave was postponed due to the pandemic; the next report will be published later in 2023 (reference 261). There is an evidence gap around behaviour in schools since the pandemic, and it is important not to oversimplify the complex issues surrounding experiences and perceptions of behaviour in schools (reference 262, 263, 264, 265). There is a danger of

scapegoating the children and young people who have been worst affected by the pandemic (references 266, 267). Taking the disproportionate impact of the pandemic on the physical and mental health, economic circumstances, and attainment of some groups of children and young people into account, it will be important to explore and address the underlying issues including poverty, societal and cultural issues, structural issues, adults' actions, interactions and perceptions, resourcing and staffing in schools.

English as an Additional Language (EAL), Refugees and Families Seeking Asylum

Children and young people with EAL faced some specific barriers around school closures and online learning. Research with teachers suggests that many were concerned about the impact of the move to online learning for children and young people who found it harder to access the work, including those with EAL (reference 268). Children, young people and parents have also raised problems associated with school closures, including being unable to ask teachers direct questions, challenges with understanding instructions, fewer opportunities to practice speaking English, and being unable to access their usual additional support (references 269, 270, 271, 272). On returning to school, it was harder for some to understand what staff were saying when they wore face masks (reference 273). There is also evidence that those with limited English found it harder to understand and access benefits, sometimes on account of temporary changes in eligibility, and services such as GP appointments, because of language barriers in telephone appointments (reference 274).

In addition to these challenges, families seeking asylum experienced barriers to digital access, because the housing

provided did not usually have WiFi access, as well as difficulties accessing basic amenities such as online shopping and broadband contracts, because they could not open a bank account (references 275, 276, 277). The issues affecting families experiencing poverty were also likely to have affected many families seeking asylum, many of whom experience extreme poverty, with those with no recourse to public funds particularly at risk of destitution during the pandemic (reference 278). These problems were often compounded by increased fear of infection leading to increased isolation, and pandemic-induced delays to the asylum process causing further financial problems, stress and anxiety (references 279, 280, 281).

The proportion of children with EAL meeting the levels associated with their age in literacy and numeracy at primary level dropped in 2020/21, then increased in 2021/22, and is now higher than it was in 2018/19 for literacy and the same as it was in 2018/19 for numeracy (compared with those with English as a main language, where the proportion of children achieving these levels at primary is still lower than in 2018/19). Similar patterns can be seen at S3 (reference 282).

Young Carers

Young carers, who live with someone with a disability, mental or physical illness, or drug or alcohol problem, and help to look after them, experienced some specific challenges due to school closures and changes to support packages. Young carers' circumstances vary but for some there is overlap between the issues affecting disabled and ill children and young people and those with child protection involvement. When young carers' support networks became unavailable or moved online, many took on more caring responsibilities to fill these gaps (references 283, 284). At the same time, children were not

allowed to be in certain spaces such as supermarkets during some COVID restrictions. Paid carers were often not available during lockdowns, with one UK survey finding that fewer than 3% of young carers had a paid assistant providing support at home, drastically affecting access to respite and breaks (reference 285). Delays to healthcare and difficulties accessing support services for the person they cared for led to increased stress and anxiety, and access to mental health support services was slow and difficult (references 286, 287, 288, 289). There was sometimes a lack of clarity about whether young carers were eligible to attend hub schools, as well as concerns about protecting shielding or vulnerable family members (references 290, 291, 292).

Online learning was particularly difficult for many young carers, many of whom were supporting their siblings with their learning as well as their own. Some young carers said they found the cancellation of exams stressful as it led to increased pressure on coursework (references 293, 294, 295).

Conclusion

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and resulting restrictions have disproportionately affected children and young people with additional support needs and their families, and particularly those whose additional support needs intersect with other disadvantages and vulnerabilities. The impacts of school closures and changes to support packages cannot be disentangled from each other or from the wider social contexts in which they occurred - contexts in which poverty and inequality were rife, services including but not limited to education were already struggling, and many children and young people with additional support needs were already not receiving the resources and support they needed to thrive.

This study offers a summary of the key impacts of school closures and changes to support packages affecting children and young people with additional support needs. It demonstrates the dramatic impact on children and young people and their parents, with impacts on learning, rights and participation, physical and mental health, family relationships, and access to support services. There were also specific impacts for various groups of children and young people, many of whom have more than one support need and therefore experienced overlapping, compounded effects of school closures and changes to support services.

This review highlights a concerning lack of systematic longitudinal research using representative samples to understand the impact of school closures and changes to support packages on particular sub-groups of children and young people. There also appears to be a lack of systematic evidence about the outcomes of interventions used to mitigate the learning loss caused by the pandemic and responses to it,

narrow attainment gaps and prevent further learning loss for children with additional support needs.

The pace of research in this area has slowed, which is concerning because many of the mid- and long-term impacts of the pandemic are only just beginning to emerge, as we may be seeing with recent concerns over behaviour in schools. Without further research which acknowledges and explores the multifaced impact of the pandemic and other social changes on the educational and wider experiences of children and young people with additional support needs, we risk unintentionally further entrenching the harms and inequalities that the pandemic at one point appeared to offer an opportunity and impetus to overcome.

Bibliography

A Place in Childhood, 'COVID-19 for Children and Young People: Learning from Families Outside', (Edinburgh, 2022), https://aplaceinchildhood.org/covid-19-for-children-and-young-people-learning-from-families-outside/

A Place in Childhood, 'COVID-19 for Children and Young People: What it's like to live with Long COVID', (Edinburgh, 2022), https://aplaceinchildhood.org/covid-19-for-children-and-young-people-what-its-like-to-live-with-long-covid/

A Place in Childhood, 'COVID-19 for Children and Young People Young Carers, Part 1, Learning from Edinburgh Young Carers', (Edinburgh, 2022), https://aplaceinchildhood.org/covid-19-for-children-and-young-people-young-carers-part-1-learning-from-edinburgh-young-carers/

A Place in Childhood, 'COVID-19 for Children and Young People. Young Carers Part 2 The Needs of Highland's Young Carers', (Edinburgh, 2022), https://aplaceinchildhood.org/covid-19-for-children-and-young-people-young-carers-part-2/

Armstrong, S. et al., 'Left Out and Locked Down: Impacts of COVID-19 for Marginalised Groups in Scotland', Report of the Scotland in Lockdown Study, 'Scotland in Lockdown' (Dec 2020), https://scotlandinlockdown.co.uk/project-report/

Asbury, K. et al., 'How is COVID-19 Affecting the Mental Health of Children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities and Their Families?', 'Journal of Autism Development Disord', 51 (2021), 1772–1780, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-020-04577-2

Audit Scotland, 'Improving Outcomes for Young People Through School Education 2021,' (Edinburgh, Mar 2021), https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2021/nr_210323_education_outcomes.pdf

Bali, E. et al., 'How are Families Coping with Self-isolation? Preliminary Results from Interviews with Families and Professionals', 'University of Glasgow' (Glasgow, 2020), https://www.gla.ac.uk/media/Media_800707_smxx.pdf

Barbosa, A. et al., 'Physical Activity and Academic Achievement: An Umbrella Review', 'International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health', 17/16 (2020), 5972, https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17165972

Beattie, M., Wilson, C. and Hendry, G., 'Learning from Lockdown: Examining Scottish Primary Teachers' Experiences of Emergency Remote Teaching', 'British Journal of Educational Studies', 70/2 (2022), 217–234, DOI: 10.1080/00071005.2021. 1915958

Biddle, S.J., et al., 'Physical Activity and Mental Health in Children and Adolescents: An Updated Review of Reviews and an Analysis of Causality', 'Psychology of Sport and Exercise', 42 (2019), 146–155, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport. 2018.08.011

Booth, J.N. et al., 'A Citizen Science Study of Short Physical Activity Breaks at School: Improvements in Cognition and Wellbeing with Self-Paced Activity', 'BMC Medicine', 18/1 (2020), 62, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-020-01539-4

Boys, J., 'Exploring Inequalities in the Social, Spatial and Material Practices of Teaching and Learning in Pandemic Times', 'Postdigital Science and Education', 4 (2022), 13–32, https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s42438-021-00267-

Braun, V. and Clarke, V., 'Reflecting on Reflexive Thematic Analysis', 'Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health', 11 (2019), 589–597, https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019. 1628806

British Academy, 'The COVID Decade: Understanding the Long-Term Societal Impacts of COVID-19', 'British Academy' (London, 2021), https://www.thebritishacademy.ac.uk/publications/covid-decade-understanding-the-long-term-societal-impacts-of-covid-19/

British Educational Research Association (BERA), 'Ethical Guidelines for Educational Research' (4th edn, London, 2018), https://www.bera.ac.uk/publication/ethical-guidelines-foreducational-research-2018

Bynner, C. et al., 'The Impact of COVID-19 on Families, Children and Young People in Glasgow', 'Children's Neighbourhoods Scotland' (Glasgow, 2020), http://eprints.gla.ac.uk/224268/

Bywaters, P. et al, 'Child welfare inequalities in the four nations of the UK'. 'Journal of Social Work: JSW', 20(2) (2018), 193-215. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468017318793479

Care Inspectorate, 'Reviewing and Learning from the Deaths of Children and Young People in Scotland' (2021), https://www.careinspectorate.com/index.php/low-graphics/8-news/6331-reviewing-and-learning-from-the-deaths-of-children-and-young-people-in-scotland

Carers Trust, 'My Future, My Feelings, My Family: How Coronavirus is Affecting Young Carers and Young Adult Carers, and What They Want You to Do Next', 'Carers Trust' (2020), https://carers.org/downloads/what-we-do-section/my-future-my-feelings-my-family.pdf

Carers Week, 'Carers Week 2020 Research Report: The Rise in the Number of Unpaid Carers During the Coronavirus (COVID-19) Outbreak', 'Carer UK' (London, Jun 2020), https://cause.eu.rit.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=ceb147ca-a62d-4155-a176-85fc30d65af0

Charles, S. et al., 'Rare Neurogenetic Conditions and Mental Health of Families During COVID-19', 'PsyArXiv', (1 February 2022), DOI: 10.31234/osf.io/teb7u

Chen, R., 'The Complex Picture of Self-harm During the COVID-19 Pandemic', 'The Lancet', 6/100123 (2021), https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanepe/article/PIIS2666-7762(21)00100-9/fulltext

Child Poverty Action Group (CPAG), 'The Cost of Learning in Lockdown – 2021 Update', 'CPAG' (London, 2021), https://cpag.org.uk/policy-and-campaigns/report/cost-learning-lockdown-march-2021-update

Children 1st, 'Children 1st's Response to the Scottish Parliament Education Committee's Call for Evidence on the Impact of the Coronavirus Pandemic on Vulnerable Children', 'Children 1st' (Edinburgh, 2020),

https://www.children1st.org.uk/media/7795/children-1st-response-to-the-education-committee-inquiry-on-vulnerable-children.pdf

Children and Young People's Commissioner Scotland, 'The Pandemic's Impact on: Children and Young People with Disabilities and ASNs', (n.d.), https://www.cypcs.org.uk/coronavirus/independent-impact-assessment/pandemic-impact-children-young-people-disability-asn/, accessed 27 May 2023.

Children's Parliament, '15 Stories', '15 Stories' (2020), https://15stories.scot/

Christie, G. and Baillot, H., 'The Impact of COVID-19 on Refugees and Refugee-assisting Organisations in Scotland', 'Scottish Refugee Council' (Glasgow, Aug 2020), https://www.scottishrefugeecouncil.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Covid-impact-survey.pdf

Cloughton, B. et al., 'Living Through a Pandemic: Researching Families on a Low Income in Scotland – Findings and Research Reflections', in K. Garthwaite et al., eds., 'COVID-19 Collaborations', (Bristol: Policy Press, 2022), https://policy.bristoluniversitypress.co.uk/covid-19-collaborations

Cooke, E.A. et al., 'The Impact of COVID-19 on Mental Health Services in Scotland, UK', 'Studies in Health Technology and Informatics', 295 (2022), 59–62, https://eprintspublications.npl.co.uk/9702/

Couper-Kenney, F. and Riddell, S., 'The Impact of COVID-19 on Children with Additional Support Needs and Disabilities in Scotland', 'European Journal of Special Needs Education', 36/1 (2021), 20–34, DOI: 10.1080/08856257.2021.1872844

COVID Education Recovery Group, 'COVID-19 Education Recovery Group minutes: 10 March 2022,' 'Scottish Government' (10 March 2022), (www.gov.scot)

Dempsey, D. and Pautz, H., 'Food Insecurity in Times of COVID-19: An Insight into a Deepening Crisis', 'Australian Huamn Rights Institute, University of New South Wales Sydney' (Apr 2021), https://www.humanrights.unsw.edu.au/news/food-insecurity-times-covid-19-insight-deepening-crisis

Di Gessa, G. et al., 'Pre-Pandemic Mental Health and Disruptions to Healthcare, Economic and Housing Outcomes During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Evidence from 12 UK Longitudinal Studies', 'Br J Psychiatry', 220/1 (2022), 21–30, DOI: 10.1192/bjp.2021.132.

Ding, N. et al., 'Changes in Children's Mental Health and Parents' Financial Stress from March 2020 to October 2022 (Report 13)', 'Co-SPACE Study' (17 Jan 2023), https://cospaceoxford.org/findings/changes-in-childrens-mental-health-and-parents-financial-stress-from-march-2020-to-october-2022/

Dobosz, D., Gierczyk, M. and Hornby, G., Parental Perspectives of Home-schooling of Children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Review', 'Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs', 23/1 (2023), 3–11. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-3802.12575

Educational Institute of Scotland, 'ASL in Scottish School Education: Exploring the Gap Between Promise and Practice', 'Educational Institute of Scotland' (Edinburgh, May 2019), https://www.eis.org.uk/Content/images/education/ASN/ExploringTheGap.pdf

Education Scotland, 'ASN Transitions and COVID-19 Supporting Children, Young People Who Require Additional Support, Their Families and Practitioners', 'Education Scotland' (Livingston, 2020), https://education.gov.scot/media/ ruxn0vno/reflective-questions-asn-transitions.pdf Education Scotland, 'Equity Audit: Deepening the Understanding of the Impact COVID-19 And School Building Closures Had on Children from Socio-Economically Disadvantaged Backgrounds and Setting Clear Areas of Focus for Accelerating Recovery', 'Scottish Government' (Edinburgh, 2020), https://dera.ioe.ac.uk/id/eprint/37234/1/equity-audit%20-%20redacted.pdf

Education Scotland, 'HM Inspectors of Education Temporarily Suspend Inspection Activity to Provide Support to Schools', 'Education Scotland' (Livingston, 2 Jun 2020), https://education.gov.scot/education-scotland/news-and-events/news/inspection-activity/#:~:text=Under%20the%20 plans%20announced%20today%20%28Tuesday%202%20 June%29,approach%20to%20learning%20for%20children%20and%20young%20people

Education Scotland, 'Learners with Complex Additional Support Needs: Resources and Guidance for Parents to Support their Child's Learning at Home', 'Education Scotland' (Livingston, n.d.) https://wakelet.com/wake/MAxXNtGBU3tQ4G4fqDRWR

Education Scotland, 'National Overview of Practice in Remote Learning – Schools: A Focus on Meeting Learning Needs, Including Those with Additional Support Needs', 'Education Scotland' (Livingston, 2021), https://education.gov.scot/media/rv1iquhw/national-overview-of-practice-in-remote-learning-4-asn.pdf

Education Scotland, 'Pupil Equity Funding: Looking Inwards, Outwards, Forwards – Sharing Effective Practice to Maximise Support for Learners and Practitioners', 'Education Scotland' (Livingston, 2022), https://education.gov.scot/improvement/learning-resources/pupil-equity-funding-looking-inwards-outwards-forwards-sharing-effective-practice-to-maximise-support-for-learners-and-practitioners/

Education Scotland, 'ASN Transitions and COVID-19', 'Education Scotland' (Livingston, 2020), https://education.gov.scot/media/ruxn0vno/reflective-questions-asn-transitions.pdf

European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC), Transitioning Beyond the Acute Phase of the COVID-19 Pandemic (Stockholm: ECDC; 2022). https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/sites/default/files/documents/Transitioning-beyond-the-acute-phase-of-the-COVID-19-pandemic_27April2022.pdf

Family Fund, 'The Impact of CORONAVIRUS - A Year in the Life of Families Raising Disabled and Seriously III Children and Young People', 'Family Fund' (2021), https://www.familyfund.org.uk/impact/research-reports/the-impact-of-coronavirus/

Finlay, R., Hopkins, P. and Benwell, M.C., 'It's like rubbing salt on the wound': the impacts of COVID-19 on asylum seekers and refugees,' 'Newcastle University' (2021), https://eprints.ncl.ac.uk/file_store/production/278292/9CA31F73-22E2-4362-B45B-1EC82308EA7E.pdf

Gillespie-Smith, K. et al., 'The Impact of COVID-19 Restrictions on Psychological Distress in Family Caregivers of Children with Neurodevelopmental Disability in the UK', 'Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders', 53 (2023), 1573–1587, doi: 10.1007/s10803-021-05132-3.

Glass, J. et al., 'COVID-19, Lockdowns and Financial Hardship in Rural Areas: Insights from the Rural Lives Project,' 'Rural Lives' (Mar 2021), https://www.rurallives.co.uk/rural-lives-final-report.html

Govorova, E., Benítez, E. and Muñiz, J., 'How Schools Affect Student Well-Being: A Cross-Cultural Approach in 35 OECD Countries,' 'Frontiers in Psychology', 11/431 (2020), https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.004 31/full

Green, F. et al., 'Perceived Effects of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Educational Progress and the Learning of Job Skills: New Evidence on Young Adults in the United Kingdom', 'Journal of Education and Work', 35/5 (2022), 485–501, DOI: 10.1080/13639080.2022.2092608

Gunnell, K.E., et al., 'Examining the Bidirectional Relationship Between Physical Activity, Screen Time, and Symptoms of Anxiety and Depression Over Time During Adolescence,' 'Preventive Medicine', 88 (2016), 147–152, doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2016.04.002.

Hall, C.L. et al., 'Understanding the Impact of Home Confinement on Children and Young People with ADHD and ASD During the COVID-19 Pandemic,' 'Child Psychiatry and Human Development' (2023), https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-022-01490-w

Harris N. and Riddell S., 'Ensuring Rights Matter: England's and Scotland's Frameworks for Implementing the Rights of Children and Young People with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities,' 'International Journal of Human Rights', 26/9 (2022), 1671–1690, DOI: 10.1080/13642987.2022.2057954

Hill, K. and Webber, R., 'From Pandemic to Cost of Living Crisis: Low-income Households in Challenging Times,' 'Joseph Rowntree Foundation' (York, 2022), https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/pandemic-cost-living-crisis-low-income-families-challenging-times

HM Government, Health Protection (Coronavirus) (Restrictions) (Scotland) Regulations 2020, (2020)

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ssi/2020/103/contents/made

HM Inspectors, 'Local Approaches to Recovery: A Thematic Review - A Report by HM Inspectors', 'Education Scotland' (Livingston, 2022), https://education.gov.scot/media/fkgntm0d/local-approaches-to-recovery-a-thematic-review23.pdf

Holden, J.P., 'Education in Scotland: Pupil Behaviour "The Worst It's Been in Years", 'Herald Scotland' (2022), https://www.heraldscotland.com/politics/20139609. education-scotland-pupil-behaviour-the-worst-years/

Holt, L. and Murray, L., 'Children and COVID-19 in the UK', 'Children's Geographies', 20/4 (2022), 487–494, https://doi.org/10.1080/14733285.2021.1921699

Horridge, K., 'Equal Outcomes for All Disabled Children?', 'The Adam Bojelian Foundation CIC' (York, 2021), https://theadsfoundation.org/adam-bojelian-memorial-talks/

Jia, R. et al., 'The Prevalence, Incidence, Prognosis and Risk Factors for Symptoms of Depression and Anxiety in a UK Cohort during the COVID-19 Pandemic', 'BJ Psych Open', 8/e64 (2022), 1–9, https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/bjpsych-open/article/prevalence-incidence-prognosis-and-risk-factors-for-symptoms-of-depression-and-anxiety-in-a-uk-cohort-during-the-covid19-pandemic/A995EAFBD3EFB 5C5E1A0E4D01C9D49D3

Kassa, C. and Pavlopoulou, G., 'Lonely Lockdown: Life for Siblings of Disabled Children in the UK,' 'University College London' (London, 2021), https://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/id/eprint/10125424/1/Lonely%20Lockdown%20-%20life%20for%20siblings%20of%20disabled%20children%20in%20the%20UK.pdf

Katic, B., Alba, L.A. and Johnson, A.H., 'A Systematic Evaluation of Restorative Justice Practices: School Violence Prevention and Response', 'Journal of School Violence', 19/4 (2020), 579–593, DOI: 10.1080/15388220.2020.1783670

Kindred Advocacy, 'COVID-19 and Families of Children with Complex Medical Needs', 'Kindred Advocacy' (2020), https://kindredadvocacy.eu.rit.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=33bd8d5c-016c-4cd1-ad27-dcf390f73687

Kouroupa, A. et al., 'The Association Between Home Learning During COVID-19 Lockdowns and Subsequent School Attendance Among Children with Neurodevelopmental Conditions,' 'Child: Care, Health and Development', (2023), 1–6, https://doi.org/10.1111/cch.13113

Leven, T., 'Health Needs Assessment of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and Non-binary People', 'NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde, NHS Lothian and Public Health Scotland' (2022), https://www.stor.scot.nhs.uk/handle/11289/580332

McBride, M. et al., 'Refugee, Asylum Seeking and Roma Families During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Insights from Frontline Workers in Glasgow', 'Children's Neighbourhoods Scotland' (2020), http://eprints.gla.ac.uk/234085/

McCluskey, G. et al., 'School Closures, Exam Cancellations and Isolation: The Impact of COVID-19 on Young People's Mental Health', 'Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties', 26/1 (2021), 46–59, https://doi.org/10.1080/13632752.2021. 1903182

McCluskey, G. et al., 'The Delivery of Education and Certification: Impact of COVID-19 on Children and Young People', commissioned by 'Scottish COVID-19 Inquiry'. (Edinburgh, 2022), https://www.covid19inquiry.scot/sites/default/files/2023-03/Portfolio_4_McCluskey_et_alUniversity_Edinburgh_Delivery_Education_Certification.pdf

McCorkell, L. and Lobo, L. 'Learning in Lockdown: A Small-scale Qualitative Study Exploring the Experiences of Autistic Young People in Scotland', 'Educational and Child Psychology', 38/3 (2021), 75–89, https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1310159

McCulloch, C., 'Enough Shaming and Blaming: Time to Change the Narrative', 'Children's Parliament', (2023), https://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/time-to-change-the-narrative/

McGeachie, M., 'Implications of COVID-19 for Youth Work', 'Robertson Trust' (2020), https://www.therobertsontrust.org.uk/news-and-blogs/implications-of-covid-19-for-youth-work/

McGhee, K. and Roesch-Marsh, A., 'Bridging the Digital Divide for Care Experienced Young People in Scotland: If Not Now, When? 'CELCIS / Scottish Care Leavers Covenant' (2020), https://www.celcis.org/knowledge-bank/search-bank/bridging-digital-divide-care-experienced-young-people-scotland-if-not-now-when

McMellon, C., and MacLachlan, A., 'Young People's Rights and Mental Health During a Pandemic: An Analysis of the Impact of Emergency Legislation in Scotland,' 'YOUNG', 29/4_suppl (2021), https://doi.org/10.1177/11033088211032783

McTier, A. and Sills, R., 'The impact of COVID-19 on Children and Families in Scotland: Understanding Needs and Services Through Local Social Work Data', 'CELCIS' (2021), https://www.celcis.org/knowledge-bank/search-bank/impact-covid-19-children-and-families-scotland-understanding-needs-and-services-through-local-social-work-data

McTier, A. and Soraghan, J., 'The Utility of Administrative Data in Understanding the COVID-19 Pandemic's Impact on Child Maltreatment: Learning from the Scotland Experience', 'Child Maltreat', (2022), DOI: 10.1177/10775595221108661

MacDonald, R. et al., 'The COVID-19 Pandemic and Youth in Recent, Historical Perspective: More Pressure, More Precarity', 'Journal of Youth Studies', (2023), DOI: 10.1080/13676261.2022.2163884

MacRitchie, I., 'Delving Deeper to Come Back Stronger', 'Scottish Journal of Residential Child Care', 19/3 (2020), https://strathprints.strath.ac.uk/84273/

Maguire, C. et al., 'Thriving Learners: RealisingStudent Potential and Wellbeing in Scotland,' 'Mental Health Foundation', (2022), https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/sites/default/files/2022-11/MHF_Thriving_Learners_Report.pdf

Marmor, A. et al., 'Child Maltreatment During COVID-19: Key Conclusions and Future Directions Based on a Systematic Literature Review', 'Trauma, Violence, and Abuse', 24/2 (2023), 760–775, https://doi.org/10.1177/15248380211043818

Maycock, M., "COVID-19 has Caused a Dramatic Change to Prison Life": Analysing the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Pains of Imprisonment in the Scottish Prison Estate,' 'British Journal of Criminology', 62/1 (2022), 218–233, https://doi.org/10.1093/bjc/azab031

MCR Pathways, 'Lockdown Survey How To Build Back Better: Listening to the Voices of Our Young People,' 'MCR Pathways' (Glasgow, Jul 2020), https://mcrpathways.org/mcr-pathways-lockdown-survey-listening-to-the-voices-of-our-young-people/

Mercieca, D., Mercieca, D.P. and Ward, K., 'Teachers Working in Special Schools in Scotland Acting with Practical Wisdom: Supporting Children with Additional Needs in COVID-19 Lockdown', 'Education Sciences', 11/10 (2021), 569, https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci11100569

Miller, E. 'A Research and Evaluation Project into the Lived Experiences of Young Carers Providing Care for Siblings with a Long-Term Illness or Disability', 'Edinburgh Young Carers' (Edinburgh, 2021), https://www.youngcarers.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Ask-Me-Im-Here-Too.pdf

Montecinos, C. et al., 'COVID-19: Do We Need to Redefine Practices for School Inspections?' ICSEI internal report, 'ICSEI' (Oct 2020), https://policyscotland.gla.ac.uk/covid-19-do-we-need-to-redefine-practices-for-school-inspections/

Moore, E. and Churchill, G., 'Still Here for Children: Experiences of NSPCC Staff who Supported Children and Families During COVID-19: Understanding the Impact of the Pandemic on Children and Families', 'NSPCC' (London: 2020), https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/research-resources/2020/still-here-for-children-experiences-of-nspcc-staff-during-coronavirus

Moore, S. 'Additional Support for Learning – The Gap Between Ambition and Reality for Our Children', 'Audit Scotland' (2022) https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/publications/children-and-young-people-who-need-additional-support-for-learning

Morgan, A., 'Support for Learning: All our Children and All their Potential', 'Scottish Government' (Edinburgh, 2020), https://webarchive.nrscotland.gov.uk/20210430033129/https://www.gov.scot/publications/review-additional-support-learning-implementation/

Mowat, J. and MacLeod, G., 'Poverty, Attainment and Wellbeing: Making a Difference to the Lives of Children and Young People', 'Scottish Universities Insight Institute' (2019), https://www.scottishinsight.ac.uk/Programmes/OpenCall 201819/PEAW.aspx

National Autistic Society, 'Left Stranded: The Impact of Coronavirus on Autistic People and Their Families in the UK', 'National Autistic Society' (2020), https://www.autism.org.uk/what-we-do/news/coronavirus-report

National Deaf Children's Society, 'Keep it Clear – Survey Results on Your Experience Of Face Masks', 'National Deaf Children's Society' (2020), https://www.ndcs.org.uk/blog/survey-results-face-masks-deaf-children-young-people/

Observatory of Children's Human Rights Scotland, 'Independent Children's Rights Impact Assessment on the Response to COVID-19 in Scotland', 'Children and Young People's Commissioner Scotland' (2020), https://www.cypcs.org.uk/resources/independent-childrens-rights-impact-assessment-on-the-response-to-covid-19-in-scotland/ Office for National Statistics (2023), 'Estimates of the prevalence of self-reported long COVID and associated activity limitation, using UK Coronavirus (COVID-19) Infection Survey data. Experimental Statistics.' https://www.ons.gov.uk/people populationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/conditionsanddiseases/datasets/alldatarelatingtoprevalenceofongoing symptomsfollowingcoronaviruscovid19infectionintheuk

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), 'Delivering for Youth: How Governments can Put Young People at the Centre of the Recovery,' 'OECD' (Paris, 2022), https://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/policy-responses/delivering-for-youth-how-governments-can-put-young-people-at-the-centre-of-the-recovery-92c9d060/

Parent Club, 'Supporting Children and Young People with Additional Support Needs,' 'Parent Club' (n.d.) https://www.parentclub.scot/articles/supporting-children-and-young-people-with-additional-support-needs

Parnham, J.C. et al., 'Half of Children Entitled to Free School Meals Did Not Have Access to the Scheme during COVID-19 Lockdown in the UK', 'Public Health', 187 (2020), 161–164, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2020.08.019

Pautz, H. and Dempsey, D., 'COVID-19 and the Crisis of Food Insecurity in the UK', 'Contemporary Social Science', 17/5 (2022), 434–449, DOI: 10.1080/21582041.2022.2044069

Picton-Howell, Z., 'The Unintended Consequences of School Closures During COVID-19 on Children and Young People's Physical Health Rights: What Are They and How Can They be Mitigated?' 'International Journal of Human Rights', (2022), https://doi.org/10.1080/13642987.2022.2057956

Reform Scotland, 'Absence and Attendance in School Commission on School Reform Briefing', 'Reform Scotland' (2022), https://reformscotland.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/CSR-absence-briefing-2022.pdf

Riddell, S., 'Appendix 8: Children with Additional Support Needs (ASN) and Disabilities: Children's Rights Impact Assessment (CRIA)', 'Children and Young People's Commissioner Scotland' (2020), https://cypcs.org.uk/wpcypcs/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/CRIA-appendix-disability-asns.pdf

Riddell, S., 'Children with Additional Support Needs and Disabilities: New Technology and Inclusion', in A. Barrales Martinez et al., eds., 'Diálogos Para la Investigación en Comunicación, Educación y Tecnologías', (2022), 78–95, https://www.pure.ed.ac.uk/ws/portalfiles/portal/282123910/Riddell2022ChildrenWithAdditionalSupportNeeds_Chapter 8.pdf

Riddell, S., 'The Rights of Children from Gypsy/Traveller and Roma Backgrounds in Scotland, 'Hungarian Educational Research Journal', 12/1 (2022), 37–51, https://doi.org/10.1556/063.2021.00088

Ritchie, M. et al., 'An Exploration of the School Level Curriculum Making Practices of Secondary Schools in the Scottish Curriculum for Excellence', paper presented to the European Conference on Educational Research (Sep 2021) https://curriculumproject.stir.ac.uk/files/2022/01/ECER_Qualitative-emerging_FINAL.pdf

Robertson, L. and McHardy, F., 'The Poverty Related Attainment Gap – A Review of the Evidence', 'The Poverty Alliance' (Glasgow, 2021),

https://www.povertyalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/The-Poverty-related-Attainment-Gap-A-Review-of-the-Evidence-11Feb2021.pdf

Scherer, N. et al., 'Do They Ever Think About People Like Us?': The Experiences of People with Learning Disabilities in England and Scotland During the COVID-19 Pandemic,' 'Critical Social Policy', (2022), https://doi.org/10.1177/02610183221109147

Scottish Children's Services Coalition, 'The Scottish Children's Services Coalition – Vulnerable Children and Coronavirus Pandemic Inquiry', submitted for the Evidence Session with the Cabinet Secretary for Education and Skills on vulnerable children (Edinburgh, 6 May 2020), https://archive2021.parliament.scot/S5_Education/General%20Documents/20200430SCSC.pdf

Scottish Commission for People with Learning Disabilities, 'The Coronavirus and People with Learning Disabilities Survey: Coronavirus and People with Learning Disabilities in Scotland – Policy Brief,' 'Scottish Commission for People with Learning Disabilities' (Mar 2022), https://www.scld.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Coronavirus-and-people-with-learning-disabilities_Policy-brief_15.03.22.pdf

Scottish Funding Council, 'College Statistics 2021-22', (Edinburgh, 2023), https://www.sfc.ac.uk/publications-statistics/statistical-publications/2023/SFCST012023.aspx

Scottish Government, 'Access to Counsellors in Secondary Schools and Children and Young People's Community Mental Health Services – Summary Reports' (Edinburgh, Nov 2022), https://www.gov.scot/publications/access-to-counsellors-in-secondary-schools-and-children-and-young-peoples-community-mental-health-services-summary-reports/

Scottish Government, 'Achievement of Curriculum for Excellence (CfE) Levels 2020-21', (Edinburgh, Dec 2021), https://www.gov.scot/publications/achievement-curriculum-excellence-cfe-levels-2020-21/documents/

Scottish Government, 'Achievement of Curriculum for Excellence (CfE) Levels 2021-22', (Edinburgh, Dec 2022) https://www.gov.scot/publications/achievement-curriculum-excellence-cfe-levels-2021-22/documents/

Scottish Government, 'Additional Support for Learning Action Plan', (Edinburgh, Oct 2020), https://www.gov.scot/publications/additional-support-learning-action-plan/

Scottish Government, 'Additional Support for Learning Implementation Group: Year 1 Report,' (Edinburgh, Oct 2021), https://www.gov.scot/publications/additional-support-learning-implementation-group-year-1-report-october-2021/

Scottish Government, 'Additional Support for Learning Project Board' (Edinburgh, n.d.), https://www.gov.scot/groups/additional-support-for-learning-project-board/

Scottish Government, 'Additional Support for Learning: Statutory Guidance 2017' (Edinburgh, 2017), p.11 https://www.gov.scot/publications/supporting-childrens-learning-statutory-guidance-education-additional-support-learning-scotland/

Scottish Government, 'Behaviour in Scottish Schools: 2016 Research' (Dec 2017), https://www.gov.scot/publications/behaviour-scottish-schools-research-2016/

Scottish Government, 'Behaviour in Schools' (May 2023), https://www.gov.scot/news/behaviour-in-schools/

Scottish Government, 'Children's Social Work Statistics Scotland: 2020 to 2021', (Edinburgh, Mar 2022), https://www.gov.scot/publications/childrens-social-work-statistics-scotland-2020-21/pages/5/

Scottish Government, 'Children's Social Work Statistics Scotland: 2021 to 2022', (Edinburgh, Apr 2023), https://www.gov.scot/publications/childrens-social-work-statistics-scotland-2021-22/documents/

Scottish Government, 'Coronavirus (COVID-19): Domestic Abuse and Other Forms of Violence Against Women and Girls During Phase 3 of Scotland's Route Map (11 August – 11 October)' (Edinburgh, Nov 2020), https://www.gov.scot/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-domestic-abuse-forms-violence-against-women-girls-during-phase-3-scotlands-route-map-11-august-11-october/

Scottish Government, 'Coronavirus (COVID-19): Experiences of Vulnerable Children, Young People, and Parents: Research' (Edinburgh, Jul 2021), https://www.gov.scot/publications/experiences-vulnerable-children-young-people-parents-during-covid-19-pandemic/documents/

Scottish Government, 'Coronavirus (COVID-19): Guidance on Reducing the Risks in Schools' (Edinburgh, Sep 2022), https://www.gov.scot/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-guidance-on-reducing-the-risks-in-schools/

Scottish Government, 'Coronavirus (COVID-19): Impact on Children, Young People and Families - Evidence Summary', (Oct 2020), https://www.gov.scot/publications/report-covid-19-children-young-people-families-october-2020-evidence-summary/documents/

Scottish Government, 'Coronavirus (Scotland) Act 2020 and the Coronavirus (Scotland) (No.2) Act 2020 - Proposed Extension: Statement of Reasons' (Feb 2022), https://www.gov.scot/publications/proposed-extension-coronavirus-scotland-act-2020-coronavirus-scotland-no-2-act-2020/

Scottish Government, 'Education Outcomes for Looked After Children 2020/21' (Jul 2022), https://www.gov.scot/publications/education-outcomes-looked-children-2020-21/documents/

Scottish Government, 'Education Outcomes for Looked After Children 2018/19' (Sep 2020), https://www.gov.scot/publications/education-outcomes-looked-children-2018-19/

Scottish Government, 'Education Outcomes for Looked After Children 2019/20' (Jun 2021), https://www.gov.scot/publications/education-outcomes-looked-children-2019-20/

Scottish Government, 'Ethics Guidance for Scottish Government Social Researchers', (Edinburgh, 2015), https://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-government-social-research-publication-protocol/

Scottish Government, 'Evaluation of COVID Support in Low-Income Households' (Edinburgh, Feb 2022), https://www.gov.scot/publications/evaluation-covid-support-low-income-households/

Scottish Government, 'Evidence Paper to Accompany: Scotland's Strategic Framework Update', (Edinburgh, Feb 2022), https://www.gov.scot/publications/evidence-paper-accompany-coronavirus-covid-19-scotlands-strategic-framework-update-february-2022/documents/

Scottish Government, 'Experiences of vulnerable children, young people, and parents during the Covid-19 pandemic: Children and Families Analysis', 'Scottish Government' (Edinburgh, Jul 2021), https://dera.ioe.ac.uk/id/eprint/38323/1/experiences-vulnerable-children-young-people-parents-during-covid-19-pandemic-children-families-analysis.pdf

Scottish Government, 'Included, Engaged and Involved Part 2: Preventing and Managing School Exclusions' (Jun 2017), https://www.gov.scot/publications/included-engaged-involved-part-2-positive-approach-preventing-managing-school/

Scottish Government, 'Looked After Children Statistics' (Edinburgh, 2009-2021), accessed 2023, https://statistics.gov.scot/data/looked-after-children

Scottish Government, 'Pupil Census Supplementary Statistics' (Edinburgh, Mar 2023), https://www.gov.scot/publications/pupil-census-supplementary-statistics/

Scottish Government, 'School Attendance and Absence Statistics', (Edinburgh, Mar 2022), https://www.gov.scot/publications/school-attendance-and-absence-statistics/

Scottish Government, 'Scotland's Wellbeing: The Impact of COVID-19 – Chapter 4: Communities, Poverty, Human Rights', (Edinburgh, 2020), https://nationalperformance.gov.scot/scotlands-wellbeing-impact-covid-19-chapter-4-communities-poverty-human-rights

Scottish Government, 'Summary Statistics for Attainment and Initial Leaver Destinations, No. 2: 2020 Edition', (Edinburgh, Feb 2020), https://www.gov.scot/publications/summary-statistics-attainment-initial-leaver-destinations-no-2-2020-edition/documents/

Scottish Government, 'Summary Statistics for Attainment and Initial Leaver Destinations, No. 3: 2021 Edition', (Edinburgh, Mar 2021), https://www.gov.scot/publications/summary-statistics-attainment-initial-leaver-destinations-no-3-2021-edition/documents/

Scottish Government, 'Summary Statistics for Attainment and Initial Leaver Destinations, No. 4: 2022 Edition', (Edinburgh, Apr 2022), https://www.gov.scot/publications/summary-statistics-attainment-initial-leaver-destinations-no-4-2022-edition/documents/

Scottish Government, 'Summary Statistics for Attainment and Initial Leaver Destinations, No. 5: 2023 Edition', (Edinburgh, May 2023), https://www.gov.scot/publications/summary-statistics-attainment-initial-leaver-destinations-no-5-2023-edition/documents/

Scottish Government, 'Tackling Child Poverty Delivery Plan 2022-2026 – Annex 6: What Works – Evidence Review' (Edinburgh, Mar 2022), https://www.gov.scot/publications/annex-6-evidence-review-works/

Scottish Government, 'Tackling Child Poverty Priority Families Overview,' (Edinburgh, Jan 2023), https://www.gov.scot/publications/tackling-child-poverty-priority-families-overview/

Scottish Government, 'The Impacts of COVID-19 on Equality in Scotland' (Edinburgh, Sep 2022), https://www.gov.scot/publications/the-impacts-of-covid-19-on-equality-in-scotland/

Scottish Government, 'The Scottish Attainment Challenge Framework for Recovery and Accelerating Progress' (Edinburgh, Mar 2022), https://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-attainment-challenge-framework-recovery-accelerating-progress/documents/

Scottish Government, 'Wider Harms of the COVID-19 pandemic on Learners, Students and Staff within Higher Education, Further Education and Community Learning and Development in Scotland' (Apr 2022), https://www.gov.scot/publications/wider-harms-covid-19-pandemic-learners-students-staff-within-higher-education-further-education-community-learning-development-scotland/

Scottish Government and COSLA, 'Additional Support for Learning Action Plan A Progress Report' (Edinburgh, Nov 2021), https://www.gov.scot/publications/additional-support-learning-action-plan-progress-report/documents/

Scottish Government and COSLA, 'Additional Support for Learning Review Action Plan: Second Progress Report', (Edinburgh, Nov 2022), https://www.gov.scot/publications/additional-support-learning-review-action-plan-second-progress-report/documents/

Scottish Parliament Debate, 'Motion S6M-09126', My Society (24th May 2023), https://www.theyworkforyou.com/sp/?id=2023-05-24.17.0&s=Schools+Exclusion#g17.26

Scottish Parliament Education, 'Children and Young People Committee Official Report 2021 session 6', 'Scottish Parliament' (Edinburgh, 1 Dec 2021), https://www.parliament.scot/api/sitecore/CustomMedia/OfficialReport?meetingId=13448

Scottish Parliament Education, 'Children and Young People Committee SP Paper 101 2nd Report 2022 (Session 6)', 'Scottish Parliament' (Edinburgh, 11 Feb 2022), https://digitalpublications.parliament.scot/Committees/Report/ECYP/2022/2/11/9c0fcf62-e8ea-43ad-a05e-1d214ce 00829-1#Introduction

Scottish Parliament, 'Health, Social Care and Sport Committee Meeting Official Report', 'Scottish Parliament' (Edinburgh, 25 Jan 2022), https://www.parliament.scot/api/sitecore/Custom Media/OfficialReport?meetingId=13549

Scottish Parliament, 'Questions and Answers, Question Number S6W-01060' (Edinburgh, 2021), https://www.parliament.scot/chamber-and-committees/questions-and-answers/question?ref=S6W-01060

Scottish Women's Aid, 'Submission to the Equalities and Human Rights Committee', 'Scottish Women's Aid' (Edinburgh, 27 May 2020), https://womensaid.scot/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/Equalities-and-Human-Rights-Committee-submission-final.pdf

Scottish Youth Parliament (SYP), 'Young Scot and YouthLink Scotland, Lockdown Lowdown: The Voice of Seldom Heard Groups During COVID-19 Pandemic Report', 'SYP' (Edinburgh, 2020), https://syp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Dec2020-LockdownLowdown-Voice-Seldom-Heard-Groups-COVID19-Pandemic-Updated-December-2020.pdf

Seith, E., 'Investigation: What's Behind Scotland's 'Behaviour Emergency'?, 'Time Educational Supplement' (Sheffield, 16 Dec 2022), https://www.tes.com/magazine/analysis/general/behaviour-emergency-scottish-schools-covid-investigation

Shirazi, P. et al., 'Challenging Inequality and Leading Change: A Report on the Work of the Inclusion Ambassadors from 2020-21', 'Children in Scotland' (Edinburgh, 2021), https://childreninscotland.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/IA_Report2021_Final-pdf.pdf

Sibieta, L. and Cottell, J., 'Education Policy Responses Across the UK to the Pandemic', 'Education Policy Institute' (London, Oct 2020), https://epi.org.uk/publications-and-research/education-responses-uk-pandemic/

Skripkauskaite, S. et al., 'Changes in Children's Mental Health Symptoms from March 2020 to June 2021 (Report 11)', 'Co-SPACE Study' (2021), http://cospaceoxford.org/findings/changes-in-childrens-mental-health-symptoms-from-march-2020-to-june-2021/

Sosu, E. and Klein, M., 'Socioeconomic Disparities in School Absenteeism After the First Wave of COVID-19 School Closures in Scotland', 'University of Strathclyde' (Glasgow, 2021), https://pure.strath.ac.uk/ws/portalfiles/portal/117483909/Sosu_Klein_2021_Socioeconomic_disparities_in_school_absenteeism_after.pdf

Stewart, T.M. et al., 'Rates, Perceptions and Predictors of Depression, Anxiety and Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD)-like symptoms about COVID-19 in adolescents', 'PLoS ONE', 17/4 (2022), e0266818, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0266818

Swinney, J., 'Coronavirus (COVID19) – Impact on Education: Deputy First Minister Speech', 'Scottish Government' (19 March 2020), https://www.gov.scot/publications/statement-covid19-managing-impacts-scottish-education/

TES Reporter, 'Increase in Online LGBT+ Bullying in Lockdown – Survey', 'Times Educational Supplement' (Sheffield, 1 Jul 2020), https://www.tes.com/magazine/archive/increase-online-lgbt-bullying-lockdown-survey

Treanor, M.C., 'How COVID-19 Crisis Measures Reveal the Conflation Between Poverty and Adversity', 'Scottish Affairs', 29/4 (2020), 475–492, https://www.euppublishing.com/doi/epub/10.3366/scot.2020.0338

Trevena, P., Gawlewicz, A. and Wright, S., 'Addressing the Needs of Scotland's Migrant and Minority Ethnic Populations Under COVID-19: Lessons for the Future', Project Report, 'University of Glasgow' (Oct 2022), https://eprints.gla.ac.uk/286118/1/286118.pdf

UK Youth, 'The Impact of COVID-19 on Young People and the Youth Sector', 'UK Youth London Office' (London, 2021), https://www.ukyouth.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/UK-Youth-Covid-19-Impact-Report-.pdf

VIEW, 'The Impact of COVID-19 on Education and Children's Services - Response from VIEW Relating to Education Professionals Working with Children and Young People with Vision Impairment', 'UK Parliament' (London, Jun 2020), https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/6203/pdf/

Viner, T. et al., 'UCL: Impacts of School Closures on Physical and Mental Health of Children and Young People: A Systematic Review', 'UK Government' (London, 2 Jul 2021), https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ucl-impacts-of-school-closures-on-physical-and-mental-health-of-children-and-young-people-a-systematic-review-11-february-2021

Watts, B. et al., 'The Homelessness Monitor: Scotland 2021,' 'Institute for Social Policy, Housing and Equalities Research (I-SPHERE), Heriot-Watt University' (Edinburgh, Sep 2021), https://www.crisis.org.uk/ending-homelessness/homelessness-knowledge-hub/homelessness-monitor/scotland/the-homelessness-monitor-scotland-2021/

Who Cares?, 'Scotland COVID-19 Recovery Planning Summary of Views from our Care Experienced Membership', 'Who Cares?' (Glasgow, Jun 2022) https://www.whocaresscotland.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/Summary-version-of-Covid-19-Recovery-Report-Feb-21.pdf

Wong, B. et al., 'Lockdown Stringency and Paediatric Self-Harm Presentations During COVID-19 Pandemic: Retrospective Cohort Study', 'BJPsych Open', 8/2 (2022), E75, doi:10.1192/bjo.2022.41

Young Minds, 'Coronavirus: Impact on Young People with Mental Health Needs', 'YoungMinds' (London, Mar 2020), https://www.youngminds.org.uk/media/xq2dnc0d/youngminds-coronavirus-report-march2020.pdf

Young Minds, 'Coronavirus: Impact on Young People with Mental Health Needs Survey 2: Summer 2020', 'YoungMinds' (London, Summer 2020), https://www.youngminds.org.uk/media/04apxfrt/youngminds-coronavirus-report-summer-2020.pdf

Young Minds, 'Coronavirus: Impact on Young People with Mental Health Needs Survey 3: Autumn 2020 – Return to School', 'YoungMinds' (London, Autumn 2020), https://www.youngminds.org.uk/media/0h1pizqs/youngminds-coronavirus-report-autumn-2020.pdf

Young Minds, 'Coronavirus: Impact on Young People with Mental Health Needs Survey 4: February 2021', 'YoungMinds' (London, Feb 2021), https://www.youngminds.org.uk/media/esifqn3z/youngminds-coronavirus-report-jan-2021.pdf

Youth Scotland, 'Acting on Poverty: How Youth Scotland's Vital Work Supports the Most Affected Communities', 'Youth Scotland' (Edinburgh, 2022), https://www.youthscotland.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/acting-on-poverty-youth-scotland.pdf

Youth Scotland, 'Rising to the Challenge – Findings From the Youth Scotland Action Fund', 'Youth Ssotland' https://www.youthscotland.org.uk/media/1869/rising-to-the-challenge-findings-from-the-youth-scotland-actionfund-web.pdf

Zeedyk, S., 'The "Behaviour Crisis" in Schools is Not Going Away' [Twitter post] (27 May 2023), https://twitter.com/suzannezeedyk/status/1662385307403132928, accessed 27 May 2023

Note on References

All URLs were accessible at the time this report was submitted. Please note that non-academic literature, also known as 'grey literature', cited in this report such as government or NGO reports may become inaccessible online due to changes in URL or removal of these documents by the publisher. A small number of references do not have active links any more due to issues on the server side. These reports are only available in PDF format, originally accessible via weblinks. These can be provided by the research team to the Inquiry upon request. Most academic literature, e.g. journal articles, cited in this report has a DOI (digital object identifier) and so always remains accessible. Nevertheless, some of these publications may lie behind a paywall and require either individual payments or institutional subscriptions to access.

References

- 1. L. Holt and L. Murray (2022), 'Children and COVID-19 in the UK', 'Children's Geographies', 20/4, 487–494. https://doi.org/10.1080/14733285.2021.1921699
- 2. E. Moore and G. Churchill (2020), 'Still Here for Children: Experiences Of NSPCC Staff who Supported Children and Families During COVID-19: Understanding The Impact of the Pandemic on Children and Families', 'NSPCC' (London), https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/research-resources/2020/still-here-for-children-experiences-of-nspcc-staff-during-coronavirus
- 3. E. Govorova, E. Benítez and J. Muñiz (2020), 'How Schools Affect Student Well-Being: A Cross-Cultural Approach in 35 OECD Countries,' 'Frontiers in Psychologyi', 11/431, https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00431/full
- 4. Scottish Government (2017), 'Additional Support for Learning: Statutory Guidance 2017', p.11 https://www.gov.scot/publications/supporting-childrens-learning-statutory-guidance-education-additional-support-learning-scotland/
- 5. V. Braun and V. Clarke (2019), 'Reflecting on Reflexive Thematic Analysis,' 'Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health', 11, 589–597, https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1628806
- 6. Scottish Government (2015), 'Ethics Guidance for Scottish Government Social Researchers', https://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-government-social-research-publication-protocol/
- 7. British Educational Research Association (BERA) (2018), 'Ethical Guidelines for Educational Research', 4th edn, 'BERA', https://www.bera.ac.uk/resources/all-publications/resources-for-researchers

- 8. J. Swinney (19 Mar 2020), Coronavirus (COVID19) Impact on Education: Deputy First Minister Speech', 'Scottish Government', https://www.gov.scot/publications/statement-covid19-managing-impacts-scottish-education/
- 9. HM Inspectors (2 Jun 2020), 'HM Inspectors of Education Temporarily Suspend Inspection Activity to Provide Support to Schools', 'Education Scotland', https://education.gov.scot/education-scotland/news-and-events/news/inspection-activity/#:~:text=Under %20the%20plans%20announced%20today%20%28 Tuesday%202%20June%29,approach%20to%20 learning%20for%20children%20and%20young%20 people
- C. Montecinos et al. (Oct 2020), 'COVID-19: Do We Need to Redefine Practices for School Inspections?' ICSEI Internal Report, 'Policy Scotland', https://policyscotland.gla.ac.uk/covid-19-do-we-need-to-redefine-practices-for-school-inspections/
- 11. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (2022), 'Transitioning Beyond the Acute Phase of the COVID-19 Pandemic', 'ECDC', Stockholm, https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/sites/default/files/documents/Transitioning-beyond-the-acute-phase-of-the-COVID-19-pandemic_27April2022.pdf
- 12. Scottish Government (Sep 2022),' Coronavirus (COVID-19): Guidance on Reducing the Risks in Schools', 'Scottish Government', https://www.gov.scot/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-guidance-on-reducing-the-risks-in-schools/
- Covid Education Recovery Group (10 Mar 2022), 'COVID-19 Education Recovery Group minutes: 10 March 2022', 'Scottish Government', COVID-19 Education Recovery Group minutes: 10 March 2022 gov.scot (www.gov.scot)

- 14. HM Government (2020), Health Protection (Coronavirus) (Restrictions) (Scotland) Regulations 2020, https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ssi/2020/103/contents/made
- 15. L. Sibieta and J. Cottell (Oct 2020), 'Education Policy Responses Across the UK to the Pandemic', 'Education Policy Institute', https://epi.org.uk/publications-and-research/education-responses-uk-pandemic/
- 16. Parent Club (n.d.), 'Supporting Children and Young People with Additional Support Needs', 'Parent Club', https://www.parentclub.scot/articles/supporting-children-and-young-people-with-additional-supportneeds
- 17. Education Scotland (n.d.), 'Learners with Complex Additional Support Needs: Resources and Guidance for Parents to Support their Child's Learning at Home', 'Education Scotland', https://wakelet.com/wake/MAxXNtGBU3tQ4G4fqDRWR
- 18. Scottish Government (Mar 2023), 'Pupil Census Supplementary Statistics', https://www.gov.scot/publications/pupil-census-supplementary-statistics/
- 19. Scottish Government (Mar 2023), 'Pupil Census Supplementary Statistics', https://www.gov.scot/publications/pupil-census-supplementary-statistics/
- 20. Scottish Parliament Education (11 Feb 2022), 'Children and Young People Committee SP Paper 101 2nd Report 2022 (Session 6)', 'Scottish Parliament', https://digitalpublications.parliament.scot/Committees/Report/ECYP/2022/2/11/9c0fcf62-e8ea-43ad-a05e-1d214ce00829-1#Introduction
- 21. P. Shirazi et al. (2021), 'Challenging Inequality and Leading Change: A Report on the Work of the Inclusion Ambassadors from 2020-21', 'Children in Scotland', https://childreninscotland.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/IA_Report2021_Final-pdf.pdf

- 22. N. Harris and S. Riddell (2022), 'Ensuring Rights Matter: England's and Scotland's Frameworks for Implementing the Rights of Children and Young People with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities', 'International Journal of Human Rights', 26/9, 1671–1690, DOI: 10.1080/ 13642987.2022.2057954
- 23. L. Sibieta and J. Cottell (Oct 2020), 'Education Policy Responses Across the UK to the Pandemic', 'Education Policy Institute', https://epi.org.uk/publications-and-research/education-responses-uk-pandemic/
- 24. S. Riddell (2022), 'Children with Additional Support Needs and Disabilities: New Technology and Inclusion', in A. Barrales Martinez et al., eds., 'Diálogos Para la Investigación en Comunicación, Educación y Tecnologías', p. 78–95.
- 25. Observatory of Children's Human Rights Scotland (2020), 'Independent Children's Rights Impact Assessment on the Response to COVID-19 in Scotland', 'Children and Young People's Commissioner Scotland', https://www.cypcs. org.uk/resources/independent-childrens-rightsimpact-assessment-on-the-response-to-covid-19-inscotland/
- 26. Children and Young People's Commissioner Scotland (n.d.), 'The pandemic's Impact on: Children and Young People with Disabilities and ASNs', https://www.cypcs.org.uk/coronavirus/independent-impact-assessment/pandemic-impact-children-young-people-disability-asn/, accessed 27 May 2023
- 27. K. Asbury et al. (2021), 'How is COVID-19 Affecting the Mental Health of Children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities and Their Families?. 'Journal of Autism Developmental Disorders', 51, 1772–1780. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-020-04577-2

- 28. E. Bali et al. (2020), 'Families Coping with Self-isolation? Preliminary Results from Interviews with Families and Professionals', 'University of Glasgow', https://www.gla.ac.uk/media/Media_800707_smxx.pdf
- 29. Scottish Government (Jul 2021), 'Coronavirus (COVID-19): Experiences of Vulnerable Children, Young People, and Parents: Research', https://www.gov.scot/publications/experiences-vulnerable-children-young-people-parents-during-covid-19-pandemic/documents/
- 30. Education Scotland (2020), 'ASN Transitions and COVID-19 Supporting Children, Young People Who Require Additional Support, Their Families and Practitioners', 'Education Scotland', https://education.gov.scot/media/ ruxn0vno/reflective-questions-asn-transitions.pdf
- 31. Education Scotland (2020), 'Equity Audit: Deepening the Understanding of the Impact COVID-19 And School Building Closures Had on Children from Socio-Economically Disadvantaged Backgrounds and Setting Clear Areas of Focus for Accelerating Recovery', 'Scottish Government', https://dera.ioe.ac.uk/id/eprint/37234/1/equity-audit%20-%20redacted.pdf
- 32. F. Couper-Kenney and S. Riddell (2021), 'The Impact of COVID-19 on Children with Additional Support Needs and Disabilities in Scotland', 'European Journal of Special Needs Education', 36/1, 20–34,. DOI: 10.1080/08856257.2021.1872844
- D. Mercieca, D.P. Mercieca and K. Ward (2021), 'Teachers Working in Special Schools in Scotland Acting with Practical Wisdom: Supporting Children with Additional Needs in COVID-19 Lockdown', 'Education Sciences', 11/10, 569. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci11100569, https://www.mdpi.com/2227-7102/11/10/569

- 34. S. Riddell (2022), 'Children with Additional Support Needs and Disabilities: New Technology and Inclusion', in A. Barrales Martinez et al., eds., 'Diálogos Para la Investigación en Comunicación, Educación y Tecnologías', p. 78–95.
- 35. Education Scotland (2021), 'National Overview of Practice in Remote Learning Schools: A Focus on Meeting Learning Needs, Including Those with Additional Support Needs', 'Education Scotland', https://education.gov.scot/media/rv1iquhw/national-overview-of-practice-in-remote-learning-4-asn.pdf
- 36. N. Harris and S. Riddell (2022), 'Ensuring Rights Matter: England's and Scotland's Frameworks for Implementing the Rights of Children and Young People with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities', 'International Journal of Human Rights', 26/9, 1671–1690, DOI: 10.1080/13642987.2022.2057954
- 37. M. Beattie, C. Wilson and G. Hendry (2022), 'Learning from Lockdown: Examining Scottish Primary Teachers' Experiences of Emergency Remote Teaching', 'British Journal of Educational Studies', 70/2, 217–234, DOI: 10.1080/00071005.2021.1915958
- 38. F. Couper-Kenney and S. Riddell (2021), 'The Impact of COVID-19 on Children with Additional Support Needs and Disabilities in Scotland', 'European Journal of Special Needs Education', 36/1, 20–34,. DOI: 10.1080/08856257.2021.1872844
- 39. L. McCorkell and L. Lobo (2021), 'Learning in Lockdown: A Small-scale Qualitative Study Exploring the Experiences of Autistic Young People in Scotland', 'Educational and Child Psychology', 38/3, 75–89, https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1310159

- 40. P. Shirazi et al. (2021), 'Challenging Inequality and Leading Change: A Report on the Work of the Inclusion Ambassadors from 2020-21', 'Children in Scotland', https://childreninscotland.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/IA_Report2021_Final-pdf.pdf
- 41. P. Shirazi et al. (2021), 'Challenging Inequality and Leading Change: A Report on the Work of the Inclusion Ambassadors from 2020-21', 'Children in Scotland', https://childreninscotland.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/IA_Report2021_Final-pdf.pdf
- 42. K. Asbury et al. (2021), 'How is COVID-19 Affecting the Mental Health of Children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities and Their Families?. 'Journal of Autism Developmental Disorders', 51, 1772–1780. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-020-04577-2
- 43. E. Bali et al. (2020), 'Families Coping with Self-isolation? Preliminary Results from Interviews with Families and Professionals', 'University of Glasgow', https://www.gla.ac.uk/media/Media_800707_smxx.pdf
- 44. D. Dobosz, M. Gierczyk and G. Hornby (2023), 'Parental Perspectives of Home-schooling of Children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Review' 'Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs', 23/1, 3–11, https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-3802.12575 p7
- 45. K. Gillespie-Smith et al. (2023), 'The Impact of COVID-19 Restrictions on Psychological Distress in Family Caregivers of Children with Neurodevelopmental Disability in the UK', 'Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders', 53, 1573–1587.
- 46. D. Dobosz, M. Gierczyk and G. Hornby (2023), 'Parental Perspectives of Home-schooling of Children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Review' 'Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs', 23/1, 3–11, https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-3802.12575

- 47. D. Mercieca, D.P. Mercieca and K. Ward (2021), 'Teachers Working in Special Schools in Scotland Acting with Practical Wisdom: Supporting Children with Additional Needs in COVID-19 Lockdown', 'Education Sciences', 11/10, 569. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci11100569, https://www.mdpi.com/2227-7102/11/10/569
- 48. (to Oct 22 30 months)
- 49. C.L. Hall, et al. (2023), 'Understanding the Impact of Home Confinement on Children and Young People with ADHD and ASD During the COVID-19 Pandemic,' 'Child Psychiatry and Human Development', https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-022-01490-w
- 50. N. Ding et al. (17 Jan 2023), 'Changes in Children's Mental Health and Parents' Financial Stress from March 2020 to October 2022 (Report 13)', 'Co-SPACE Study', https://cospaceoxford.org/findings/changes-in-childrens-mental-health-and-parents-financial-stress-from-march-2020-to-october-2022/
- 51. SEND refers to special educational needs and disabilities, a term that is commonly used in other jurisdictions of the UK.
- 52. S. Skripkauskaite et al. (2021), 'Changes in Children's Mental Health Symptoms from March 2020 to June 2021 (Report 11)', 'Co-SPACE Study', http://cospaceoxford.org/findings/changes-in-childrens-mental-health-symptoms-from-march-2020-to-june-2021/ p6
- 53. F. Couper-Kenney and S. Riddell (2021), 'The Impact of COVID-19 on Children with Additional Support Needs and Disabilities in Scotland', 'European Journal of Special Needs Education', 36/1, 20–34,. DOI: 10.1080/08856257. 2021.1872844

- 54. Scottish Government (Jul 2021), 'Coronavirus (COVID-19): Experiences of Vulnerable Children, Young People, and Parents: Research', https://www.gov.scot/publications/experiences-vulnerable-children-young-people-parents-during-covid-19-pandemic/documents/
- 55. Scottish Government (Jul 2021), 'Coronavirus (COVID-19): Experiences of Vulnerable Children, Young People, and Parents: Research', https://www.gov.scot/publications/experiences-vulnerable-children-young-people-parents-during-covid-19-pandemic/documents/
- 56. A. Kouroupa et al.. (2023). 'The Association Between Home Learning During COVID-19 Lockdowns and Subsequent School Attendance Among Children with Neurodevelopmental Conditions,' 'Child: Care, Health and Development', 1– 6, https://doi.org/10.1111/cch.13113
- 57. Scottish Government (Mar 2023), 'Pupil Census Supplementary Statistics', https://www.gov.scot/publications/pupil-census-supplementary-statistics/, see table 4.4
- 58. L. Sibieta and J. Cottell (Oct 2020), 'Education Policy Responses Across the UK to the Pandemic', 'Education Policy Institute', https://epi.org.uk/publications-and-research/education-responses-uk-pandemic/
- 59. N. Harris and S. Riddell (2022), 'Ensuring Rights Matter: England's and Scotland's Frameworks for Implementing the Rights of Children and Young People with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities', 'International Journal of Human Rights', 26/9, 1671–1690, DOI: 10.1080/13642987.2022.2057954
- 60. Scottish Government (2022), Evaluation of COVID Support in Low-Income Households', https://www.gov.scot/publications/evaluation-covid-support-low-income-households/

- 61. S. Riddell (2022), 'Children with Additional Support Needs and Disabilities: New Technology and Inclusion', in A. Barrales Martinez et al., eds., 'Diálogos Para la Investigación en Comunicación, Educación y Tecnologías', p. 78–95.
- 62. M.C. Treanor (2020), 'How COVID-19 Crisis Measures Reveal the Conflation Between Poverty and Adversity', 'Scottish Affairs', 29/4, 475–492, https://www.euppublishing.com/doi/epub/10.3366/scot.2020.0338
- 63. Kindred Advocacy (2020), 'COVID-19 and Families of Children with Complex Medical Needs', 'Kindred Advocacy', https://kindredadvocacy.eu.rit.org.uk/ Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=33bd8d5c-016c-4cd1-ad27-dcf390f73687
- 64. Scottish Women's Aid (27 May 2020), 'Submission to the Equalities and Human Rights Committee', 'Scottish Women's Aid', https://womensaid.scot/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/Equalities-and-Human-Rights-Committee-submission-final.pdf
- 65. M.C. Treanor (2020), 'How COVID-19 Crisis Measures Reveal the Conflation Between Poverty and Adversity', 'Scottish Affairs', 29/4, 475–492, https://www.euppublishing.com/doi/epub/10.3366/scot.2020.0338
- 66. Scottish Parliament Education (11 Feb 2022), 'Children and Young People Committee SP Paper 101 2nd Report 2022 (Session 6)', 'Scottish Parliament', https://digital publications.parliament.scot/Committees/Report/ ECYP/2022/2/11/9c0fcf62-e8ea-43ad-a05e-1d214ce 00829-1#Introduction
- 67. S. Riddell (2020), 'Appendix 8: Children with Additional Support Needs (ASN) and Disabilities: Children's Rights Impact Assessment (CRIA)', 'Children and Young People's Commissioner Scotland', https://cypcs.org.uk/wpcypcs/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/CRIA-appendix-disability-asns.pdf

- 68. Scottish Children's Services Coalition (6 May 2020), 'The Scottish Children's Services Coalition Vulnerable Children and Coronavirus Pandemic Inquiry', submitted for the Evidence Session with the Cabinet Secretary for Education and Skills on vulnerable children and Skills on vulnerable children, https://archive2021.parliament.scot/S5_Education/General%20Documents/20200430SCSC.pdf
- 69. Spending on ASN had increased in special schools over the same time period.
- 70. Audit Scotland (Mar 2021), 'Improving Outcomes for Young People Through School Education 2021,' https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2021/nr_210323_education_outcomes.pdf
- 71. Educational Institute of Scotland (2019), 'ASL in Scottish School Education: Exploring the Gap Between Promise and Practice', 'Educational Institute of Scotland', https://www.eis.org.uk/Content/images/education/ASN/ExploringTheGap.pdf
- 72. A. Morgan (2020), 'Support for Learning: All our Children and All their Potential', Scottish Government, https://webarchive.nrscotland.gov.uk/20210430033129 /https://www.gov.scot/publications/review-additional-support-learning-implementation/
- 73. Scottish Government (Oct 2020), 'Additional Support for Learning Action Plan', https://www.gov.scot/publications/additional-support-learning-action-plan/
- 74. Formerly the Additional Support for Learning Inclusion Group
- 75. Scottish Government (n.d.), 'Additional Support for Learning Project Board', https://www.gov.scot/groups/additional-support-for-learning-project-board/

- 76. Scottish Government (Oct 2021), 'Additional Support for Learning Implementation Group: Year 1 Report,' https://www.gov.scot/publications/additional-support-learning-implementation-group-year-1-report-october-2021/
- 77. Scottish Government (Nov 2022), 'Additional Support for Learning Review Action Plan: Second Progress Report', https://www.gov.scot/publications/additional-support-learning-review-action-plan-second-progress-report/documents/
- 78. Scottish Government and COSLA (2021), 'Additional Support for Learning Action Plan A Progress Report', https://www.gov.scot/publications/additional-support-learning-action-plan-progress-report/documents/
- 79. Scottish Government (Oct 2020), 'Additional Support for Learning: Action Plan', https://www.gov.scot/publications/additional-support-learning-action-plan/
- 80. Audit Scotland (Mar 2021), 'Improving Outcomes for Young People Through School Education 2021,' p.7, https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2021/nr_210323_education_outcomes.pdf
- 81. Scottish Government (Nov 2022), 'Additional Support for Learning Review Action Plan: Second Progress Report', https://www.gov.scot/publications/additional-support-learning-review-action-plan-second-progress-report/documents/
- 82. S. Moore (2022), 'Additional Support for Learning The Gap Between Ambition and Reality for Our Children', 'Audit Scotland', https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/publications/children-and-young-people-who-need-additional-support-for-learning
- 83. E. Seith (2022), 'Investigation: What's Behind Scotland's 'Behaviour Emergency'?, 'Time Educational Supplement', https://www.tes.com/magazine/analysis/general/behaviour-emergency-scottish-schools-covid-investigation

- 84. Audit Scotland (Mar 2021), 'Improving Outcomes for Young People Through School Education 2021,' https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2021/nr_210323_education_outcomes.pdf
- 85. Scottish Parliament Education (11 Feb 2022), 'Children and Young People Committee SP Paper 101 2nd Report 2022 (Session 6)', 'Scottish Parliament', https://digital publications.parliament.scot/Committees/Report/ ECYP/2022/2/11/9c0fcf62-e8ea-43ad-a05e-1d214ce 00829-1#Introduction
- 86. The Scottish Parliament Education (1 Dec 2021), 'Children and Young People Committee Official Report 2021 session 6', 'Scottish Parliament', https://www.parliament.scot/api/sitecore/CustomMedia/OfficialReport?meetingId=13448
- 87. Scottish Government (Dec 2021), 'Achievement of Curriculum for Excellence (CfE) Levels 2020-21', https://www.gov.scot/publications/achievement-curriculum-excellence-cfe-levels-2020-21/documents/
- 88. Scottish Government (Dec 2021), 'Achievement of Curriculum for Excellence (CfE) Levels 2020-21', https://www.gov.scot/publications/achievement-curriculum-excellence-cfe-levels-2020-21/documents/
- 89. Scottish Government (Dec 2021), 'Achievement of Curriculum for Excellence (CfE) Levels 2020-21', https://www.gov.scot/publications/achievement-curriculum-excellence-cfe-levels-2020-21/documents/
- 90. HM Inspectors (2022), 'Local Approaches to Recovery: A Thematic Review A Report by HM Inspectors', 'Education Scotland', https://education.gov.scot/media/fkgntm0d/local-approaches-to-recovery-a-thematic-review23.pdf
- 91. Audit Scotland (Mar 2021), 'Improving Outcomes for Young People Through School Education 2021,' https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2021/nr_210323_education_outcomes.pdf

- 92. S. Moore (2022), 'Additional Support for Learning The Gap Between Ambition and Reality for Our Children', 'Audit Scotland', https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/publications/children-and-young-people-who-need-additional-support-for-learning
- 93. Scottish Government (Feb 2020), 'Summary Statistics for Attainment and Initial Leaver Destinations, No. 2: 2020 Edition', https://www.gov.scot/publications/summary-statistics-attainment-initial-leaver-destinations-no-2-2020-edition/documents/
- 94. Scottish Government (Mar 2021), 'Summary Statistics for Attainment and Initial Leaver Destinations, No. 3: 2021 Edition', https://www.gov.scot/publications/summary-statistics-attainment-initial-leaver-destinations-no-3-2021-edition/documents/
- 95. Scottish Government (Apr 2022), 'Summary Statistics for Attainment and Initial Leaver Destinations, No. 4: 2022 Edition', https://www.gov.scot/publications/summary-statistics-attainment-initial-leaver-destinations-no-4-2022-edition/documents/
- 96. Scottish Government (May 2023), 'Summary Statistics for Attainment and Initial Leaver Destinations, No. 5: 2023 Edition', https://www.gov.scot/publications/summary-statistics-attainment-initial-leaver-destinations-no-5-2023-edition/documents/
- 97. Scottish Government (May 2023), 'Summary Statistics for Attainment and Initial Leaver Destinations, No. 5: 2023 Edition', https://www.gov.scot/publications/summary-statistics-attainment-initial-leaver-destinations-no-5-2023-edition/documents/
- 98. S. Moore (2022), 'Additional Support for Learning The Gap Between Ambition and Reality for Our Children', 'Audit Scotland', https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/publications/children-and-young-people-who-need-additional-support-for-learning

- 99. L. Robertson and F. McHardy (2021), 'The Poverty Related Attainment Gap A Review of the Evidence', 'The Poverty Alliance', https://www.povertyalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/The-Poverty-related-Attainment-Gap-A-Review-of-the-Evidence-11Feb2021.pdf
- 100. Scottish Parliament Education (11 Feb 2022), 'Children and Young People Committee SP Paper 101 2nd Report 2022 (Session 6)', 'Scottish Parliament', https://digital publications.parliament.scot/Committees/Report/ECYP/2022/2/11/9c0fcf62-e8ea-43ad-a05e-1d214ce 00829-1#Introduction
- 101. British Academy (2021), 'The COVID Decade: Understanding the Long-Term Societal Impacts of COVID-19', 'British Academy', https://www.thebritishacademy. ac.uk/publications/covid-decade-understanding-thelong-term-societal-impacts-of-covid-19/
- 102. K. Hill and R. Webber (2022), 'From Pandemic to Cost of Living Crisis: Low-income Households in Challenging Times,' 'Joseph Rowntree Foundation', https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/pandemic-cost-livingcrisis-low-income-families-challenging-times
- 103. Youth Scotland (2022), 'Acting on Poverty: How Youth Scotland's Vital Work Supports the Most Affected Communities', 'Youth Ssotland', https://www.youthscotland.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/acting-on-poverty-poverty-youth-scotland.pdf
- 104. R. MacDonald et al. (2023), 'The COVID-19 Pandemic and Youth in Recent, Historical Perspective: More Pressure, More Precarity', 'Journal of Youth Studies', DOI: 10.1080/13676261.2022.2163884
- 105. Scottish Government (2017), 'Additional Support for Learning: Statutory Guidance 2017' (Edinburgh, 2017), p.11 https://www.gov.scot/publications/supporting-childrens-learning-statutory-guidance-education-additional-support-learning-scotland/

- 106. Scottish Government (Mar 2023), 'Pupil Census Supplementary Statistics', https://www.gov.scot/publications/pupil-census-supplementary-statistics/
- 107. S. Riddell (2022), 'Children with Additional Support Needs and Disabilities: New Technology and Inclusion', in A. Barrales Martinez et al., eds., 'Diálogos Para la Investigación en Comunicación, Educación y Tecnologías', pp. 78–95.
- 108. B. Watts et al., 'The Homelessness Monitor: Scotland 2021,' 'Institute for Social Policy, Housing and Equalities Research (I-SPHERE), Heriot-Watt University', https://www.crisis.org.uk/ending-homelessness/homelessness-knowledge-hub/homelessness-monitor/scotland/the-homelessness-monitor-scotland-2021/
- 109. Bywaters et al. (2018), 'Child welfare inequalities in the four nations of the UK,' 'Journal of Social Work: JSW', 20(2), 193-215. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468017318793479
- 110. Scottish Government (2021), 'Tackling Child Poverty Priority Families Overview, 'https://www.gov.scot/publications/tackling-child-poverty-priority-families-overview/
- 111. Scottish Government (2022), Evaluation of COVID Support in Low-Income Households', p.5, https://www.gov.scot/publications/evaluation-covid-support-low-income-households/
- 112. Scottish Government (Sep 2022), 'The Impacts of COVID-19 on Equality in Scotland', https://www.gov.scot/ publications/the-impacts-of-covid-19-on-equality-inscotland/
- 113. Scottish Government (2020), 'Scotland's Wellbeing: The Impact of COVID-19 Chapter 4: Communities, Poverty, Human Rights', https://nationalperformance.gov.scot/scotlands-wellbeing-impact-covid-19-chapter-4-communities-poverty-human-rights

- 114. Education Scotland (2020), 'Equity Audit: Deepening the Understanding of the Impact COVID-19 And School Building Closures Had on Children from Socio-Economically Disadvantaged Backgrounds and Setting Clear Areas of Focus for Accelerating Recovery', 'Scottish Government', https://dera.ioe.ac.uk/id/eprint/37234/1/equity-audit%20-%20redacted.pdf
- 115. Child Poverty Action Group (CPAG), 'The Cost of Learning in Lockdown 2021 Update', CPAG https://cpag.org.uk/policy-and-campaigns/report/cost-learning-lockdown-march-2021-update
- 116. Observatory of Children's Human Rights, Scotland Independent Children's Rights Impact Assessment on the Response to Covid-19 in Scotland https://www.cypcs. org.uk/wpcypcs/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/ independent-cria.pdf
- 117. Education Scotland, equityaudit.pdf (education.gov.scot)
- 118. B. Cloughton et al. (2022), 'Living Through a Pandemic: Researching Families on a Low Income in Scotland Findings and Research Reflections', in K. Garthwaite et al., eds., 'COVID-19 Collaborations', https://policy.bristoluniversitypress.co.uk/covid-19-collaborations
- 119. Youth Scotland, 'Rising to the Challenge Findings From the Youth Scotland Action Fund', 'Youth Ssotland', https://www.youthscotland.org.uk/media/1869/rising-to-the-challenge-findings-from-the-youth-scotland-actionfund-web.pdf
- 120. M. McGeachie (2020), 'Implications of COVID-19 for Youth Work', 'Robertson Trust', https://www.therobertsontrust.org.uk/news-andblogs/implications-of-covid-19-for-youth-work/

- 121. Scottish Parliament Education (11 Feb 2022), 'Children and Young People Committee SP Paper 101 2nd Report 2022 (Session 6)', 'Scottish Parliament', https://digital publications.parliament.scot/Committees/Report/ECYP/2022/2/11/9c0fcf62-e8ea-43ad-a05e-1d214ce 00829-1#Introduction
- 122. J. Glass et al. (2021), 'COVID-19, Lockdowns and Financial Hardship in Rural Areas: Insights from the Rural Lives Project,' 'Rural Lives', https://www.rurallives.co.uk/rural-lives-final-report.html
- 123. S. Riddell (2022), 'The Rights of Children from Gypsy/Traveller and Roma Backgrounds in Scotland, 'Hungarian Educational Research Journal', 12/1, 37–51, doi: https://doi.org/10.1556/063.2021.00088
- 124. UK Youth (2021), 'The Impact of COVID-19 on Young People and the Youth Sector', 'UK Youth London Office', https://www.ukyouth.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/UK-Youth-Covid-19-Impact-Report-.pdf
- 125. Scottish Parliament Education (11 Feb 2022), 'Children and Young People Committee SP Paper 101 2nd Report 2022 (Session 6)', 'Scottish Parliament', https://digital publications.parliament.scot/Committees/Report/ECYP/2022/2/11/9c0fcf62-e8ea-43ad-a05e-1d214ce 00829-1#Introduction
- 126. S. Riddell (2022), 'Children with Additional Support Needs and Disabilities: New Technology and Inclusion', in A. Barrales Martinez et al., eds., 'Diálogos Para la Investigación en Comunicación, Educación y Tecnologías', p. 78–95.
- 127. S. Riddell (2022), 'The Rights of Children from Gypsy/Traveller and Roma Backgrounds in Scotland, 'Hungarian Educational Research Journal', 12/1, 37–51, doi: https://doi.org/10.1556/063.2021.00088

- 128. E. Sosu and M. Klein (2021), 'Socioeconomic Disparities in School Absenteeism After the First Wave of COVID-19 School Closures in Scotland', 'University of Strathclyde', https://pure.strath.ac.uk/ws/portalfiles/portal/117483909/Sosu_Klein_2021_Socioeconomic_disparities_in_school_absenteeism_after.pdf
- 129. Scottish Government (2022), 'School Attendance and Absence Statistics', https://www.gov.scot/publications/school-attendance-and-absence-statistics/
- 130. Reform Scotland (2022), 'Absence and Attendance in School Commission on School Reform Briefing', 'Reform Scotland', https://reformscotland.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/CSR-absence-briefing-2022.pdf
- 131. Scottish Youth Parliament (SYP) (2020), 'Young Scot and YouthLink Scotland, Lockdown Lowdown: The Voice of Seldom Heard Groups During COVID-19 Pandemic Report', 'SYP',. https://syp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Dec2020-LockdownLowdown-Voice-Seldom-Heard-Groups-COVID19-Pandemic-Updated-December-2020.pdf
- 132. Scottish Government (Jul 2021), 'Experiences of vulnerable children, young people, and parents during the Covid-19 pandemic: Children and Families Analysis', 'Scottish Government', https://dera.ioe.ac.uk/id/eprint/38323/1/experiences-vulnerable-children-young-people-parents-during-covid-19-pandemic-children-families-analysis.pdf
- 133. Observatory of Children's Human Rights Scotland (2020), 'Independent Children's Rights Impact Assessment on the Response to COVID-19 in Scotland', 'Children and Young People's Commissioner Scotland', https://www.cypcs.org.uk/resources/independent-childrens-rights-impact-assessment-on-the-response-to-covid-19-in-scotland/

- 134. L. Robertson and F. McHardy (2021), 'The Poverty Related Attainment Gap A Review of the Evidence', 'The Poverty Alliance', https://www.povertyalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/The-Poverty-related-Attainment-Gap-A-Review-of-the-Evidence-11Feb2021.pdf
- 135. B. Cloughton et al. (2022), 'Living Through a Pandemic: Researching Families on a Low Income in Scotland Findings and Research Reflections', in K. Garthwaite et al., eds., 'COVID-19 Collaborations', https://policy.bristoluniversitypress.co.uk/covid-19-collaborations
- 136. S. Skripkauskaite et al. (2021), 'Changes in Children's Mental Health Symptoms from March 2020 to June 2021 (Report 11)', 'Co-SPACE Study', http://cospaceoxford.org/findings/changes-in-childrens-mental-health-symptoms-from-march-2020-to-june-2021/
- 137. T. Leven (2022), 'Health Needs Assessment of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and Non-binary People', 'NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde, NHS Lothian and Public Health Scotland', https://www.stor.scot.nhs.uk/handle/11289/580332
- 138. Tes Reporter (2020), 'Increase in Online LGBT+ Bullying in Lockdown Survey', 'Times Educational Supplement', https://www.tes.com/magazine/archive/increase-online-lgbt-bullying-lockdown-survey
- 139. Z. Picton-Howell (2022), 'The Unintended Consequences of School Closures During COVID-19 on Children and Young People's Physical Health Rights: What Are They and How Can They be Mitigated?' 'International Journal of Human Rights', DOI: 10.1080/13642987.2022.2057956
- 140. J.C. Parnham et al., 'Half of Children Entitled to Free School Meals Did Not Have Access to the Scheme during COVID-19 Lockdown in the UK', 'Public Health', 187 (2020): 161–164, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2020.08.019

- 141. H. Pautz and D. Dempsey (2022), 'COVID-19 and the Crisis of Food Insecurity in the UK', 'Contemporary Social Science', 17/5, 434–449, DOI: 10.1080/21582041. 2022.2044069
- 142. D. Dempsey and H. Pautz (2021), 'Food Insecurity in Times of COVID-19: An Insight into a Deepening Crisis', 'Australian Huamn Rights Institute, University of New South Wales Sydney', https://www.humanrights.unsw. edu.au/news/food-insecurity-times-covid-19-insightdeepening-crisis
- 143. Z. Picton-Howell (2022), 'The Unintended Consequences of School Closures During COVID-19 on Children and Young People's Physical Health Rights: What Are They and How Can They be Mitigated?' 'International Journal of Human Rights', DOI: 10.1080/13642987.2022.2057956
- 144. H. Pautz and D. Dempsey (2022), 'COVID-19 and the Crisis of Food Insecurity in the UK', 'Contemporary Social Science', 17/5, 434–449, DOI: 10.1080/21582041.2022. 2044069
- 145. Scottish Parliament (25 Jan, 2022), 'Health, Social Care and Sport Committee Meeting Official Report', 'Scottish Parliament', https://www.parliament.scot/api/sitecore/CustomMedia/OfficialReport?meetingId=13549
- 146. Observatory of Children's Human Rights Scotland (2020), 'Independent Children's Rights Impact Assessment on the Response to COVID-19 in Scotland', 'Children and Young People's Commissioner Scotland', https://www.cypcs.org.uk/resources/independent-childrens-rights-impact-assessment-on-the-response-to-covid-19-in-scotland/
- 147. Scottish Government (2022), Evaluation of COVID Support in Low-Income Households', https://www.gov.scot/publications/evaluation-covid-support-low-income-households/

- 148. Scottish Parliament Education (11 Feb 2022), 'Children and Young People Committee SP Paper 101 2nd Report 2022 (Session 6)', 'Scottish Parliament', https://digital publications.parliament.scot/Committees/Report/ECYP/2022/2/11/9c0fcf62-e8ea-43ad-a05e-1d214ce 00829-1#Introduction
- 149. Children's Parliament (2020), '15 Stories', '15 Stories', https://15stories.scot/
- 150. Observatory of Children's Human Rights Scotland (2020), 'Independent Children's Rights Impact Assessment on the Response to COVID-19 in Scotland', 'Children and Young People's Commissioner Scotland', https://www.cypcs.org.uk/resources/independent-childrens-rights-impact-assessment-on-the-response-to-covid-19-in-scotland/
- 151. K.E. Gunnell et al. (2016), 'Examining the Bidirectional Relationship Between Physical Activity, Screen Time, and Symptoms of Anxiety and Depression Over Time During Adolescence,' 'Preventive Medicine', 88, p.147–152.
- 152. J.N. Booth et al. (2020), 'A Citizen Science Study of Short Physical Activity Breaks at School: Improvements in Cognition and Wellbeing with Self-Paced Activity', 'BMC Medicine', 18/1, p.62
- 153. A. Barbosa et al., 'Physical Activity and Academic Achievement: An Umbrella Review', 'International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health', 17/16, p.5972
- 154. Biddle, S.J. et al., Physical Activity and Mental Health in Children and Adolescents: An Updated Review of Reviews and an Analysis of Causality', 'Psychology of Sport and Exercise', 42, p.146–155.
- 155. Scottish Government (Dec 2022), 'Achievement of Curriculum for Excellence (CfE) Levels 2021-22', https://www.gov.scot/publications/achievement-curriculum-excellence-cfe-levels-2021-22/documents/

- 156. Scottish Government (Feb 2022), 'Evidence Paper to Accompany: Scotland's Strategic Framework Update', https://www.gov.scot/publications/evidence-paper-accompany-coronavirus-covid-19-scotlands-strategic-framework-update-february-2022/documents/
- 157. Scottish Government (Dec 2022), 'Achievement of Curriculum for Excellence (CfE) Levels 2021-22', https://www.gov.scot/publications/achievement-curriculum-excellence-cfe-levels-2021-22/documents/
- 158. Education Scotland (2022), 'Pupil Equity Funding: Looking Inwards, Outwards, Forwards Sharing Effective Practice to Maximise Support for Learners and Practitioners', 'Education Scotland', https://education.gov.scot/improvement/learning-resources/pupil-equity-funding-looking-inwards-outwards-forwards-sharing-effective-practice-to-maximise-support-for-learners-and-practitioners/
- 159. L. Robertson and F. McHardy (2021), 'The Poverty Related Attainment Gap A Review of the Evidence', 'The Poverty Alliance', https://www.povertyalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/The-Poverty-related-Attainment-Gap-A-Review-of-the-Evidence-11Feb2021.pdf
- 160. L. Robertson and F. McHardy (2021), 'The Poverty Related Attainment Gap A Review of the Evidence', 'The Poverty Alliance', https://www.povertyalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/The-Poverty-related-Attainment-Gap-A-Review-of-the-Evidence-11Feb2021.pdf
- 161. Audit Scotland (Mar 2021), 'Improving Outcomes for Young People Through School Education 2021,' https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2021/nr_210323_education_outcomes.pdf Audit Scotland (Mar 2021), 'Improving Outcomes for Young People Through School Education 2021,'

- https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2021/nr_210323_education_outcomes.pdf
- 162. Audit Scotland (Mar 2021), 'Improving Outcomes for Young People Through School Education 2021,' p.26, https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2021/nr_210323_education_outcomes.pdf
- 163. Scottish Government, The Scottish Attainment Challenge Framework for Recovery and Accelerating Progress, 2022. https://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-attainment-challenge-framework-recovery-accelerating-progress/documents/
- 164. Scottish Government, Coronavirus (COVID-19): impact on children, young people and families evidence summary October 2020, https://www.gov.scot/publications/report-covid-19-children-young-people-families-october-2020-evidence-summary/documents/
- 165. Ritchie, M., Priestley, M., Peace-Hughes, T., Shapira, M. and Barnett, C. (2021) An exploration of the school level curriculum making practices of secondary schools in the Scottish Curriculum for Excellence. Presentation at the European Conference on Educational Research, September 2021.
- 166. F. Couper-Kenney and S. Riddell (2021), 'The Impact of COVID-19 on Children with Additional Support Needs and Disabilities in Scotland', 'European Journal of Special Needs Education', 36/1, 20–34,. DOI: 10.1080/08856257.2021.1872844
- 167. Family Fund (2021), 'The Impact of CORONAVIRUS A Year in the Life of Families Raising Disabled and Seriously Ill Children and Young People', 'Family Fund', https://www.familyfund.org.uk/impact/research-reports/the-impact-of-coronavirus/

- 168. Kindred Advocacy (2020), 'COVID-19 and Families of Children with Complex Medical Needs', 'Kindred Advocacy', https://kindredadvocacy.eu.rit.org.uk/ Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=33bd8d5c-016c-4cd1-ad27-dcf390f73687
- 169. Family Fund (2021), 'The Impact of CORONAVIRUS A Year in the Life of Families Raising Disabled and Seriously III Children and Young People', Family Fund, https://www.familyfund.org.uk/impact/research-reports/the-impact-of-coronavirus/
- 170. F. Couper-Kenney and S. Riddell (2021), 'The Impact of COVID-19 on Children with Additional Support Needs and Disabilities in Scotland', 'European Journal of Special Needs Education', 36/1, 20–34,. DOI: 10.1080/08856257.2021.1872844
- 171. Family Fund (2021), 'The Impact of CORONAVIRUS A Year in the Life of Families Raising Disabled and Seriously Ill Children and Young People', 'Family Fund', https://www.familyfund.org.uk/impact/research-reports/the-impact-of-coronavirus/
- 172. Scottish Government (Jul 2021), 'Coronavirus (COVID-19): Experiences of Vulnerable Children, Young People, and Parents: Research', https://www.gov.scot/publications/experiences-vulnerable-children-young-people-parents-during-covid-19-pandemic/documents/
- 173. National Autistic Society (2020), 'Left Stranded: The Impact of Coronavirus on Autistic People and Their Families in the UK', 'National Autistic Society', https://www.autism.org.uk/what-we-do/news/coronavirus-report
- 174. Kindred Advocacy (2020), 'COVID-19 and Families of Children with Complex Medical Needs', 'Kindred Advocacy', https://kindredadvocacy.eu.rit.org.uk/ Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=33bd8d5c-016c-4cd1-ad27-dcf390f73687

- 175. R. Jia et al. (2022), 'The Prevalence, Incidence, Prognosis and Risk Factors for Symptoms of Depression and Anxiety in a UK Cohort during the COVID-19 Pandemic', 'BJ Psych Open', 8/e64, pp.1–9, https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/bjpsych-open/article/prevalence-incidence-prognosis-and-risk-factors-for-symptoms-of-depression-and-anxiety-in-a-uk-cohort-during-the-covid19-pandemic/A995EAFBD3EFB5C5E1A0E4D01 C9D49D3
- 176. N. Scherer et al. (2022), ., 'Do They Ever Think About People Like Us?': The Experiences of People with Learning Disabilities in England and Scotland During the COVID-19 Pandemic,' 'Critical Social Policy', https://doi.org/10.1177/02610183221109147
- 177. Family Fund (2021), 'The Impact of CORONAVIRUS A Year in the Life of Families Raising Disabled and Seriously Ill Children and Young People', 'Family Fund', https://www.familyfund.org.uk/impact/research-reports/the-impact-of-coronavirus/
- 178. Scottish Government (Mar 2022), 'Tackling Child Poverty Delivery Plan 2022-2026 Annex 6: What Works –Evidence Review' https://www.gov.scot/publications/annex-6-evidence-review-works/
- 179. Scottish Government (Feb 2022), 'Coronavirus (Scotland) Act 2020 and the Coronavirus (Scotland) (No.2) Act 2020 Proposed Extension: Statement of Reasons', https://www.gov.scot/publications/proposed-extension-coronavirus-scotland-act-2020-coronavirus-scotland-no-2-act-2020/
- 180. S. Charles et al. (1 Feb 2022), 'Rare Neurogenetic Conditions and Mental Health of Families During COVID-19', 'PsyArXiv', doi:10.31234/osf.io/teb7u

- 181. Z. Picton-Howell (2022), 'The Unintended Consequences of School Closures During COVID-19 on Children and Young People's Physical Health Rights: What Are They and How Can They be Mitigated?' 'International Journal of Human Rights', DOI: 10.1080/13642987.2022.2057956
- 182. K.Horridge (2021), 'Equal Outcomes for All Disabled Children?', 'The Adam Bojelian Foundation CIC', https://theadsfoundation.org/adam-bojelian-memorial-talks/
- 183. Scottish Parliament (25 Jan 2022), 'Health, Social Care and Sport Committee Meeting Official Report', 'Scottish Parliament', https://www.parliament.scot/api/sitecore/CustomMedia/OfficialReport?meetingId=13549
- 184. A Place in Childhood (2022), 'COVID-19 for Children and Young People: What it's like to live with Long COVID', https://aplaceinchildhood.org/covid-19-for-children-and-young-people-what-its-like-to-live-with-long-covid/
- 185. Office for National Statistics (2023), 'Estimates of the prevalence of self-reported long COVID and associated activity limitation, using UK Coronavirus (COVID-19) Infection Survey data. Experimental Statistics.' https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationand community/healthandsocialcare/conditionsand diseases/datasets/alldatarelatingtoprevalenceof ongoingsymptomsfollowingcoronaviruscovid19 infectionintheuk
- 186. VIEW (Jun 2020), 'The Impact of COVID-19 on Education and Children's Services Response from VIEW Relating to Education Professionals Working with Children and Young People with Vision Impairment', 'UK Parliament', https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/6203/pdf/

- 187. National Deaf Children's Society (2020), 'Keep it Clear Survey Results on Your Experience Of Face Masks', 'National Deaf Children's Society', https://www.ndcs.org.uk/blog/survey-results-face-masks-deaf-children-young-people/
- 188. J. Boys (2022), 'Exploring Inequalities in the Social, Spatial and Material Practices of Teaching and Learning in Pandemic Times', 'Postdigital Science and Education', 4, pp.13–32, https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s42438-021-00267-z
- 189. Scottish Commission for People with Learning Disabilities (Mar 2022), 'The Coronavirus and People with Learning Disabilities Survey: Coronavirus and People with Learning Disabilities in Scotland Policy Brief,' 'Scottish Commission for People with Learning Disabilities', https://www.scld.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Coronavirus-and-people-with-learning-disabilities_Policy-brief_15.03.22.pdf
- 190. Education Scotland (2020), 'ASN Transitions and COVID-19 Supporting Children, Young People Who Require Additional Support, Their Families and Practitioners', 'Education Scotland', https://education.gov.scot/media/ ruxn0vno/reflective-questions-asn-transitions.pdf
- 191. Scottish Government (Sep 2022),' Coronavirus (COVID-19): Guidance on Reducing the Risks in Schools', 'Scottish Government', https://www.gov.scot/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-guidance-on-reducing-the-risks-in-schools/
- 192. Audit Scotland (Mar 2021), 'Improving Outcomes for Young People Through School Education 2021,' https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2021/nr_210323_education_outcomes.pdf

- 193. McCluskey et al. (2022), 'The Delivery of Education and Certification: Impact of COVID-19 on Children and Young People', 'University of Edinburgh', https://www.research.ed.ac.uk/en/publications/the-delivery-of-education-and-certification-impact-of-covid-19-on
- 194. OECD (2022), 'Delivering for Youth: How Governments can Put Young People at the Centre of the Recovery,' 'OECD', https://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/policy-responses/delivering-for-youth-how-governments-can-put-young-people-at-the-centre-of-the-recovery-92c9d060/
- 195. G. McCluskey et al., (2021) 'School Closures, Exam Cancellations and Isolation: The Impact of COVID-19 on Young People's Mental Health', 'Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties', 26/1, 46–59, DOI: 10.1080/13632752.2021.1903182
- 196. T.M. Stewart et al. (2022), 'Rates, Perceptions and Predictors of Depression, Anxiety and Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD)-like symptoms about COVID-19 in adolescents', 'PLoS ONE', 17/4, e0266818, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0266818
- 197. Young Minds (Mar 2020), 'Coronavirus: Impact on Young People with Mental Health Needs', 'YoungMinds', https://www.youngminds.org.uk/media/xq2dnc0d/youngminds-coronavirus-report-march2020.pdf
- 198. G. Di Gessa et al. (2022), 'Pre-Pandemic Mental Health and Disruptions to Healthcare, Economic and Housing Outcomes During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Evidence from 12 UK Longitudinal Studies', 'Br J Psychiatry', 220/1, 21–30, DOI: 10.1192/bjp.2021.132.

- 199. T. Viner et al. (2021), 'UCL: Impacts of School Closures on Physical and Mental Health of Children and Young People: A Systematic Review', 'UK Government', https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ucl-impacts-of-school-closures-on-physical-and-mental-health-of-children-and-young-people-a-systematic-review-11-february-2021
- 200. T.M. Stewart et al. (2022), 'Rates, Perceptions and Predictors of Depression, Anxiety and Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD)-like symptoms about COVID-19 in adolescents', 'PLoS ONE', 17/4, e0266818, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0266818
- 201. F. Couper-Kenney and S. Riddell (2021), 'The Impact of COVID-19 on Children with Additional Support Needs and Disabilities in Scotland', 'European Journal of Special Needs Education', 36/1, 20–34,. DOI: 10.1080/08856257.2021.1872844
- 202. T.M. Stewart et al. (2022), 'Rates, Perceptions and Predictors of Depression, Anxiety and Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD)-like symptoms about COVID-19 in adolescents', 'PLoS ONE', 17/4, e0266818, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0266818
- 203. Young Minds (Mar 2020), 'Coronavirus: Impact on Young People with Mental Health Needs', 'YoungMinds', https://www.youngminds.org.uk/media/xq2dnc0d/youngminds-coronavirus-report-march2020.pdf
- 204. Young Minds (summer 2020), 'Coronavirus: Impact on Young People with Mental Health Needs Survey 2: Summer 2020', 'YoungMinds', https://www.youngminds.org.uk/media/04apxfrt/youngminds-coronavirus-report-summer-2020.pdf
- 205. Young Minds (autumn 2020), 'Coronavirus: Impact on Young People with Mental Health Needs Survey 3: Autumn 2020 Return to School', 'YoungMinds', https://www.youngminds.org.uk/media/0h1pizqs/youngminds-coronavirus-report-autumn-2020.pdf

- 206. Young Minds (Feb 2020), 'Coronavirus: Impact on Young People with Mental Health Needs Survey 4: February 2020', 'YoungMinds', https://www.youngminds.org.uk/media/esifqn3z/youngminds-coronavirus-report-jan-2021.pdf
- 207. B. Wong et al. (2022), 'Lockdown Stringency and Paediatric Self-Harm Presentations During COVID-19 Pandemic: Retrospective Cohort Study', 'BJPsych Open', 8/2, E75, DOI:10.1192/bjo.2022.41
- 208. Scottish Parliament (2021), 'Questions and Answers, Question Number S6W-01060', https://www.parliament.scot/chamber-and-committees/questions-and-answers/question?ref= S6W-01060
- 209. Wong et al. (2022), 'Lockdown Stringency and Paediatric Self-Harm Presentations During COVID-19 Pandemic: Retrospective Cohort Study', 'BJPsych Open', 8/2, E75, DOI:10.1192/bjo.2022.41
- 210. R. Chen (2021), 'The Complex Picture of Self-harm During the COVID-19 Pandemic', 'The Lancet', 6/100123, https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanepe/article/PIIS 2666-7762(21)00100-9/fulltext
- 211. E. Cooke et al. (2022), 'The Impact of COVID-19 on Mental Health Services in Scotland, UK', 'Studies in Health Technology and Informatics', 295, 59–62, https://eprintspublications.npl.co.uk/9702/
- 212. McMellon, C., and MacLachlan, A. (2021). Young People's Rights and Mental Health During a Pandemic: An Analysis of the Impact of Emergency Legislation in Scotland. YOUNG, 29(4_suppl), S11–S34. https://doi.org/10.1177/11033088211032783

- 213. Scottish Government (Nov 2022), 'Access to Counsellors in Secondary Schools and Children and Young People's Community Mental Health Services Summary Reports', https://www.gov.scot/publications/access-to-counsellors-in-secondary-schools-and-children-and-young-peoples-community-mental-health-services-summary-reports/
- 214. I. MacRitchie (2020), 'Delving Deeper to Come Back Stronger', 'Scottish Journal of Residential Child Care', 19/3, https://strathprints.strath.ac.uk/84273/
- 215. Who Cares? (2022), 'Scotland COVID-19 Recovery Planning Summary of Views from our Care Experienced Membership', 'Who Cares?', https://www.whocaresscotland.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/Summary-version-of-Covid-19-Recovery-Report-Feb-21.pdf
- 216. MCR Pathways Lockdown Survey How To Build Back Better: Listening To The Voices Of Our Young People https://mcrpathways.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/ 07/MCR-Lockdown-Survey-Report-29th-July.pdf 2020
- 217. I. MacRitchie (2020), 'Delving Deeper to Come Back Stronger', 'Scottish Journal of Residential Child Care', 19/3, https://strathprints.strath.ac.uk/84273/
- 218. K. McGhee and A. Roesch-Marsh Bridging the digital divide for care experienced young people in Scotland: If not now, when? CELCIS / Scottish Care Leavers Covenant, 2020 https://www.celcis.org/knowledge-bank/search-bank/bridging-digital-divide-care-experienced-young-people-scotland-if-not-now-when
- 219. Who Cares? (2022), 'Scotland COVID-19 Recovery Planning Summary of Views from our Care Experienced Membership', 'Who Cares?', https://www.whocaresscotland.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/Summary-version-of-Covid-19-Recovery-Report-Feb-21.pdf

- 220. A. McTier and R. Sills (2021), 'The impact of COVID-19 on Children and Families in Scotland: Understanding Needs and Services Through Local Social Work Data', 'CELCIS', https://www.celcis.org/knowledge-bank/searchbank/impact-covid-19-children-and-families-scotlandunderstanding-needs-and-services-through-localsocial-work-data
- 221. Scottish Government (Mar 2021), 'Children's Social Work Statistics Scotland: 2020 to 2021', https://www.gov.scot/publications/childrens-social-work-statistics-scotland-2020-21/pages/5/
- 222. Scottish Government (Apr 2023), 'Children's Social Work Statistics Scotland: 2021 to 2022', https://www.gov.scot/publications/childrens-social-work-statistics-scotland-2021-22/documents/
- 223. Scottish Government, 'Looked After Children Statistics' (Edinburgh, 2009-2021), accessed 2023, https://statistics.gov.scot/data/looked-after-children
- 224. A. McTier and R. Sills (2021), 'The impact of COVID-19 on Children and Families in Scotland: Understanding Needs and Services Through Local Social Work Data', 'CELCIS', https://www.celcis.org/knowledge-bank/search-bank/impact-covid-19-children-and-families-scotland-understanding-needs-and-services-through-local-social-work-data
- 225. A. McTier and J. Soraghan (2022), 'The Utility of Administrative Data in Understanding the COVID-19 Pandemic's Impact on Child Maltreatment: Learning from the Scotland Experience', 'Child Maltreat', https://pureportal.strath.ac.uk/en/organisations/centre-for-excellence-for-childrens-care-and-protection

- 226. A. McTier and R. Sills (2021), 'The impact of COVID-19 on Children and Families in Scotland: Understanding Needs and Services Through Local Social Work Data', 'CELCIS', https://www.celcis.org/knowledge-bank/search-bank/impact-covid-19-children-and-families-scotland-understanding-needs-and-services-through-local-social-work-data
- 227. A. McTier and J. Soraghan (2022), 'The Utility of Administrative Data in Understanding the COVID-19 Pandemic's Impact on Child Maltreatment: Learning from the Scotland Experience', 'Child Maltreat', https://pureportal.strath.ac.uk/en/organisations/centre-for-excellence-for-childrens-care-and-protection
- 228. A. McTier and R. Sills (2021), 'The impact of COVID-19 on Children and Families in Scotland: Understanding Needs and Services Through Local Social Work Data', 'CELCIS', https://www.celcis.org/knowledge-bank/search-bank/impact-covid-19-children-and-families-scotland-understanding-needs-and-services-through-local-social-work-data
- 229. Marmor et al. (2023), 'Child Maltreatment During COVID-19: Key Conclusions and Future Directions Based on a Systematic Literature Review', 'Trauma, Violence, and Abuse', 24/2, 760–775, https://doi.org/10.1177/ 15248380211043818
- 230. A. McTier and R. Sills (2021), 'The impact of COVID-19 on Children and Families in Scotland: Understanding Needs and Services Through Local Social Work Data', 'CELCIS', https://www.celcis.org/knowledge-bank/search-bank/impact-covid-19-children-and-families-scotland-understanding-needs-and-services-through-local-social-work-data

- 231. Scottish Women's Aid (27 May 2020), 'Submission to the Equalities and Human Rights Committee', 'Scottish Women's Aid', https://womensaid.scot/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/Equalities-and-Human-Rights-Committee-submission-final.pdf
- 232. E. Bali et al. (2020), 'Families Coping with Self-isolation? Preliminary Results from Interviews with Families and Professionals', 'University of Glasgow', https://www.gla.ac.uk/media/Media_800707_smxx.pdf
- 233. Children 1st. (2020). 'Children 1st's Response to the Scottish Parliament Education Committee's Call for Evidence on the Impact of the Coronavirus Pandemic on Vulnerable Children', 'Children 1st', https://www.children1st.org.uk/media/7795/children-1st-response-to-theeducation-committee-inquiry-on-vulnerable-children.pdf
- 234. A. McTier and R. Sills (2021), 'The impact of COVID-19 on Children and Families in Scotland: Understanding Needs and Services Through Local Social Work Data', 'CELCIS', https://www.celcis.org/knowledge-bank/search-bank/impact-covid-19-children-and-families-scotland-understanding-needs-and-services-through-local-social-work-data
- 235. McMellon and MacLachlan (2021), 'Young People's Rights and Mental Health During a Pandemic: An Analysis of the Impact of Emergency Legislation in Scotland,' 'YOUNG', 29/4_suppl, https://doi.org/10.1177/11033088211032783
- 236. A Place in Childhood (Oct 2022), 'COVID-19 for Children and Young People: Learning from Families Outside', https://aplaceinchildhood.org/covid-19-for-children-and-young-people-learning-from-families-outside/
- 237. Maycock, M. (2022), "COVID-19 has Caused a Dramatic Change to Prison Life": Analysing the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Pains of Imprisonment in the Scottish Prison Estate,' 'British Journal of Criminology', 62/1, 218–233. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjc/azab031

- 238. Measured by school closure, workplace closure, cancellation of public events, restrictions of gatherings, closure of public transport, stay-at-home requirements, restrictions on internal movement, international travel controls and public information campaigns
- 239. Wong et al. (2022), 'Lockdown Stringency and Paediatric Self-Harm Presentations During COVID-19 Pandemic: Retrospective Cohort Study', 'BJPsych Open', 8/2, E75, DOI:10.1192/bjo.2022.41
- 240. A. McTier and R. Sills (2021), 'The impact of COVID-19 on Children and Families in Scotland: Understanding Needs and Services Through Local Social Work Data', 'CELCIS', https://www.celcis.org/knowledge-bank/search-bank/impact-covid-19-children-and-families-scotland-understanding-needs-and-services-through-local-social-work-data
- 241. A. McTier and R. Sills (2021), 'The impact of COVID-19 on Children and Families in Scotland: Understanding Needs and Services Through Local Social Work Data', 'CELCIS', https://www.celcis.org/knowledge-bank/search-bank/impact-covid-19-children-and-families-scotland-understanding-needs-and-services-through-local-social-work-data
- 242. Child deaths in most age groups have been falling since 2015 and this trend largely continued throughout the pandemic, although caution should be used when interpreting this data due to the small numbers involved.
- 243. Care Inspectorate, Reviewing and learning from the deaths of children and young people in Scotland, 2021. https://www.careinspectorate.com/index.php/low-graphics/8-news/6331-reviewing-and-learning-from-the-deaths-of-children-and-young-people-in-scotland

- 244. Scottish Government (Nov 2020), 'Coronavirus (COVID-19): Domestic Abuse and Other Forms of Violence Against Women and Girls During Phase 3 of Scotland's Route Map (11 August 11 October)', https://www.gov.scot/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-domestic-abuse-forms-violence-against-women-girls-during-phase-3-scotlands-route-map-11-august-11-october/
- 245. for the year 2020/21, just 38% school leavers who had been looked after at some point in the preceding year achieved at least one qualification at SCQF level 5, compared with 88% all school leavers
- 246. Scottish Government (Jul 2022), 'Education Outcomes for Looked After Children 2020/21', https://www.gov.scot/publications/education-outcomes-looked-children-2020-21/documents/
- 247. Scottish Government (Sep 2020), 'Education Outcomes for Looked After Children 2018/19', https://www.gov.scot/publications/education-outcomes-looked-children-2018-19/
- 248. Scottish Government (Jun 2021), 'Education Outcomes for Looked After Children 2019/20', https://www.gov.scot/publications/education-outcomes-looked-children-2019-20/
- 249. Scottish Government (Jul 2022), 'Education Outcomes for Looked After Children 2020/21', https://www.gov.scot/publications/education-outcomes-looked-children-2020-21/documents/
- 250. S. Riddell (2022), 'Children with Additional Support Needs and Disabilities: New Technology and Inclusion', in A. Barrales Martinez et al., eds., 'Diálogos Para la Investigación en Comunicación, Educación y Tecnologías', p. 78–95.

- 251. S. Riddell (2022), 'Children with Additional Support Needs and Disabilities: New Technology and Inclusion', in A. Barrales Martinez et al., eds., 'Diálogos Para la Investigación en Comunicación, Educación y Tecnologías', p. 78–95.
- 252. https://www.gov.scot/publications/pupil-censussupplementary-statistics/ Scottish Government (Mar 2023), 'Pupil Census Supplementary Statistics', https://www.gov.scot/publications/pupil-censussupplementary-statistics/
- 253. Scottish Funding Council (2023), 'College Statistics 2021-22', https://www.sfc.ac.uk/publications-statistics/statistical-publications/2023/SFCST012023.aspx
- 254. C. Maguire et al. (2022), 'Thriving Learners: Realising Student Potential and Wellbeing in Scotland,' 'Mental Health Foundation', https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/sites/default/files/2022-11/MHF_Thriving_Learners_Report.pdf
- 255. C. Maguire et al. (2022), 'Thriving Learners:
 RealisingStudent Potential and Wellbeing in Scotland,'
 'Mental Health Foundation', https://www.mentalhealth.
 org.uk/sites/default/files/2022-11/MHF_Thriving_
 Learners_Report.pdf
- 256. Scottish Government (Apr 2022), 'Wider Harms of the COVID-19 pandemic on Learners, Students and Staff within Higher Education, Further Education and Community Learning and Development in Scotland', https://www.gov.scot/publications/wider-harms-covid-19-pandemic-learners-students-staff-within-higher-education-further-education-community-learning-development-scotland/
- 257. F. Green et al. (2022), 'Perceived Effects of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Educational Progress and the Learning of Job Skills: New Evidence on Young Adults in the United Kingdom', 'Journal of Education and Work', 35/5, 485-501, DOI: 10.1080/13639080.2022.2092608

- 258. J.P. Holden (2022), 'Education in Scotland: Pupil Behaviour "The Worst It's Been in Years", 'Herald Scotland', https://www.heraldscotland.com/politics/20139609.education-scotland-pupil-behaviour-theworst-years/
- 259. Scottish Parliament Debate (24th May 2023), 'Motion S6M-09126', 'My Society', https://www.theyworkforyou.com/sp/?id=2023-05-24.17.0&s=Schools+Exclusion#g17.26
- 260. Scottish Government (May 2023), 'Behaviour in Schools', https://www.gov.scot/news/behaviour-in-schools/
- 261. Scottish Government (Dec 2017), 'Behaviour in Scottish Schools: 2016 Research', https://www.gov.scot/publications/behaviour-scottish-schools-research-2016/
- 262. J. Mowat and G. MacLeod, Poverty (2019), 'Poverty, Attainment and Wellbeing: Making a Difference to the Lives of Children and Young People', 'Scottish Universities Insight Institute' https://www.scottishinsight.ac.uk/
 Programmes/OpenCall201819/PEAW.aspx
- 263. B. Katic, L.A. Alba and A.H. Johnson (2020), A Systematic Evaluation of Restorative Justice Practices: School Violence Prevention and Response', 'Journal of School Violence', 19/4, 579–593, DOI: 10.1080/15388220.2020. 1783670
- 264. Scottish Government (Jun 2017), 'Included, Engaged and Involved Part 2: Preventing and Managing School Exclusions', https://www.gov.scot/publications/included-engaged-involved-part-2-positive-approach-preventing-managing-school/
- 265. L. Robertson and F. McHardy (2021), 'The Poverty Related Attainment Gap A Review of the Evidence', 'The Poverty Alliance', https://www.povertyalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/The-Poverty-related-Attainment-Gap-A-Review-of-the-Evidence-11Feb2021.pdf

- 266. C. McCulloch (2023), 'Enough Shaming and Blaming: Time to Change the Narrative', 'Children's Parliament', https://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/time-to-change-the-narrative/
- 267. S. Zeedyk (2023), 'The "Behaviour Crisis" in Schools is Not Going Away' [Twitter post] (27 May 2023), https://twitter.com/suzannezeedyk/status/16623853074 03132928
- 268. M. Beattie, C. Wilson and G. Hendry (2022), 'Learning from Lockdown: Examining Scottish Primary Teachers' Experiences of Emergency Remote Teaching', 'British Journal of Educational Studies', 70/2, 217–234, DOI: 10.1080/00071005.2021.1915958
- 269. Scottish Government (Jul 2021), 'Coronavirus (COVID-19): Experiences of Vulnerable Children, Young People, and Parents: Research', https://www.gov.scot/publications/experiences-vulnerable-children-young-people-parents-during-covid-19-pandemic/documents/
- 270. P. Trevena, A. Gawlewicz and S. Wright (Oct 2022), 'Addressing the Needs of Scotland's Migrant and Minority Ethnic Populations Under COVID-19: Lessons for the Future', Project Report, 'University of Glasgow', https://eprints.gla.ac.uk/286118/1/286118.pdf
- 271. Armstrong, S. et al. (Dec 2020), 'Left Out and Locked Down: Impacts of COVID-19 for Marginalised Groups in Scotland', Report of the Scotland in Lockdown Study, 'Scotland in Lockdown',
 - https://scotlandinlockdown.co.uk/project-report/
- 272. C. Bynner et al. (2020), 'The Impact of COVID-19 on Families, Children and Young People in Glasgow', 'Children's Neighbourhoods Scotland', http://eprints.gla.ac.uk/224268/

- 273. Scottish Government (Jul 2021), 'Coronavirus (COVID-19): Experiences of Vulnerable Children, Young People, and Parents: Research', https://www.gov.scot/publications/experiences-vulnerable-children-young-people-parents-during-covid-19-pandemic/documents/
- 274. Scottish Government (2022), Evaluation of COVID Support in Low-Income Households', https://www.gov.scot/publications/evaluation-covid-support-low-income-households/
- 275. Scottish Government (Jul 2021), 'Coronavirus (COVID-19): Experiences of Vulnerable Children, Young People, and Parents: Research', https://www.gov.scot/publications/experiences-vulnerable-children-young-people-parents-during-covid-19-pandemic/documents/
- 276. Christie, G. and H. Baillot (2020). The impact of COVID-19 on refugees and refugee-assisting organisations in Scotland. Scotlish Refugee Council. https://www.scottishrefugeecouncil.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Covid-impact-survey.pdf
- 277. Finlay, R. Hopkins, P. and M.C. Benwell (2021). "It's like rubbing salt on the wound": the impacts of COVID-19 on asylum seekers and refugees. https://eprints.ncl.ac.uk/file_store/production/278292/9CA31F73-22E2-4362-B45B-1EC82308EA7E.pdf
- 278. Observatory of Children's Human Rights Scotland (2020), 'Independent Children's Rights Impact Assessment on the Response to COVID-19 in Scotland', 'Children and Young People's Commissioner Scotland', https://www.cypcs.org.uk/resources/independent-childrens-rights-impact-assessment-on-the-response-to-covid-19-in-scotland/
- 279. Scottish Government (Jul 2021), 'Coronavirus (COVID-19): Experiences of Vulnerable Children, Young People, and Parents: Research', https://www.gov.scot/publications/experiences-vulnerable-children-young-people-parents-during-covid-19-pandemic/documents/

- 280. McBride, M., Feeney, E., Bynner, C., McLean, J. (2020). Refugee, asylum seeking and Roma families during the COVID-19 pandemic: insights from frontline workers in Glasgow. http://eprints.gla.ac.uk/234085/
- 281. Armstrong, S. et al. (Dec 2020), 'Left Out and Locked Down: Impacts of COVID-19 for Marginalised Groups in Scotland', Report of the Scotland in Lockdown Study, 'Scotland in Lockdown', https://scotlandinlockdown.co.uk/project-report/
- 282. Scottish Government (Dec 2022), 'Achievement of Curriculum for Excellence (CfE) Levels 2021-22', https://www.gov.scot/publications/achievement-curriculum-excellence-cfe-levels-2021-22/documents/
- 283. C. Kassa and G. Pavlopoulou (2021). 'Lonely Lockdown: Life for Siblings of Disabled Children in the UK,' 'University College London', https://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/id/eprint/10125424/1/Lonely%20Lockdown%20-%20life%20for%20siblings%20of%20disabled%20children%20in%20the%20UK.pdf
- 284. Carers Trust (2020), 'My Future, My Feelings, My Family: How Coronavirus is Affecting Young Carers and Young Adult Carers, and What They Want You to Do Next', 'Carers Trust', https://carers.org/downloads/what-we-do-section/my-future-my-feelings-my-family.pdf
- 285. Carers Trust (2020), 'My Future, My Feelings, My Family: How Coronavirus is Affecting Young Carers and Young Adult Carers, and What They Want You to Do Next', 'Carers Trust', https://carers.org/downloads/what-we-do-section/my-future-my-feelings-my-family.pdf
- 286. A Place in Childhood (2022), 'COVID-19 for Children and Young People Young Carers, Part 1, Learning from Edinburgh Young Carers', 'A Place in Childhood', https://aplaceinchildhood.org/covid-19-for-children-and-young-people-young-carers-part-1-learning-from-edinburgh-young-carers/

- 287. A Place in Childhood (2022), 'COVID-19 for Children and Young People. Young Carers Part 2 The Needs of Highland's Young Carers', 'A Place in Childhood', https://aplaceinchildhood.org/covid-19-for-children-and-young-people-young-carers-part-2/
- 288. Scottish Youth Parliament (SYP) (2020), 'Young Scot and YouthLink Scotland, Lockdown Lowdown: The Voice of Seldom Heard Groups During COVID-19 Pandemic Report', 'SYP',. https://syp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Dec2020-LockdownLowdown-Voice-Seldom-Heard-Groups-COVID19-Pandemic-Updated-December-2020.pdf
- 289. E. Miller (2021), 'A Research and Evaluation Project into the Lived Experiences of Young Carers Providing Care for Siblings with a Long-Term Illness or Disability', 'Edinburgh Young Carers', https://www.youngcarers.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Ask-Me-Im-Here-Too.pdf
- 290. Carers Week (Jun 2020), 'Carers Week 2020 Research Report: The Rise in the Number of Unpaid Carers During the Coronavirus (COVID-19) Outbreak', 'Carer UK', https://cause.eu.rit.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx? IDMF=ceb147ca-a62d-4155-a176-85fc30d65af0
- 291. E. Miller (2021), 'A Research and Evaluation Project into the Lived Experiences of Young Carers Providing Care for Siblings with a Long-Term Illness or Disability', 'Edinburgh Young Carers', https://www.youngcarers.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Ask-Me-Im-Here-Too.pdf
- 292. C. Kassa and G. Pavlopoulou (2021). 'Lonely Lockdown: Life for Siblings of Disabled Children in the UK,' 'University College London', https://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/id/eprint/10125424/1/Lonely%20Lockdown%20-%20life%20for%20siblings%20of%20disabled%20children%20in%20the%20UK.pdf

- 293. A Place in Childhood (2022), 'COVID-19 for Children and Young People Young Carers, Part 1, Learning from Edinburgh Young Carers', 'A Place in Childhood', https://aplaceinchildhood.org/covid-19-for-children-and-young-people-young-carers-part-1-learning-from-edinburgh-young-carers/
- 294. A Place in Childhood (2022), 'COVID-19 for Children and Young People. Young Carers Part 2 The Needs of Highland's Young Carers', 'A Place in Childhood', https://aplaceinchildhood.org/covid-19-for-children-and-young-people-young-carers-part-2/
- 295. Scottish Youth Parliament (SYP) (2020), 'Young Scot and YouthLink Scotland, Lockdown Lowdown: The Voice of Seldom Heard Groups During COVID-19 Pandemic Report', 'SYP',. https://syp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Dec2020-LockdownLowdown-Voice-Seldom-Heard-Groups-COVID19-Pandemic-Updated-December-2020.pdf

Transcribed into E-text by A2i Transcription Services Unit 4 Montpelier Central, Station Road, Bristol BS6 5EE 01179 44 00 44 info@a2i.co.uk www.a2i.co.uk

We welcome feedback so please get in touch!

Ref number: 38159